
 
UNITED STATES 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
Washington, DC 20549 

 

Form 10-Q 
 

☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2023 

OR

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from                      to                      

Commission File Number 001-35996 
 

Organovo Holdings, Inc. 
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) 

 
 

Delaware  27-1488943
(State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)  
(I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)
     

11555 Sorrento Valley Rd, Suite 100,
San Diego, CA 92121  (858) 224-1000

(Address of principal executive offices and zip code)  (Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)
 

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
 

Title of each class Trading symbol Name of Each Exchange on which registered
Common Stock, $0.001 par value ONVO The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC 

 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing 
requirements for the past 90 days.  Yes ☒  No ☐ 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of 
Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files).  
Yes ☒  No ☐ 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an 
emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth 
company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. 
 

Large accelerated filer  ☐  Accelerated filer  ☐
Non-accelerated filer  ☒  Smaller reporting company  ☒
        Emerging growth company  ☐
 

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any 
new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐  

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ☐  No ☒ 

As of November 1, 2023, a total of 8,837,095 shares of the registrant’s Common Stock, $0.001 par value, were outstanding. 
 

 
 



 
ORGANOVO HOLDINGS, INC. 

INDEX 

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION  
 
Item 1.  Financial Statements  3
  Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2023 (Unaudited) and March 31, 2023  3
 

 

Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Loss for the Three and Six Months 
Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022  4

 
 

Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Three and Six Months Ended September 30, 
2023 and 2022  5

    Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Six Months Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022  6
  Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements  7
Item 2.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations  18
Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk  25
Item 4.  Controls and Procedures  25
 

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1.  Legal Proceedings  26
Item 1A.  Risk Factors  26
Item 2.  Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds  44
Item 3.  Defaults Upon Senior Securities  45
Item 4.  Mine Safety Disclosure  45
Item 5.  Other Information  45
Item 6.  Exhibits  46
 
 

 

2



 
PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Organovo Holdings, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands except for share and per share data)
 

    September 30, 2023     March 31, 2023  
    (Unaudited)        

Assets            
Current Assets            

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 7,617     $ 15,301  
Accounts receivable     55       152  
Investment in equity securities     —       706  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     624       889  

Total current assets     8,296       17,048  
Fixed assets, net     808       902  
Restricted cash     143       143  
Operating lease right-of-use assets     1,505       1,705  
Prepaid expenses and other assets, net     409       515  

Total assets   $ 11,161     $ 20,313  
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity            

Current Liabilities            
Accounts payable   $ 435     $ 331  
Accrued expenses     666       2,848  
Operating lease liability, current portion     499       492  

Total current liabilities     1,600       3,671  
Operating lease liability, net of current portion     1,105       1,313  
Total liabilities     2,705       4,984  
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 7)            
Stockholders’ Equity            

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized, 8,719,453
   and 8,716,906 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2023 and
   March 31, 2023, respectively     9       9  
Additional paid-in capital     341,467       340,317  
Accumulated deficit     (333,020 )     (324,998 )
Accumulated other comprehensive income     1       2  
Treasury stock, 46 shares at cost     (1 )     (1 )

Total stockholders’ equity     8,456       15,329  

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity   $ 11,161     $ 20,313  
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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Organovo Holdings, Inc.

Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands except share and per share data)

 
 

    Three Months Ended     Three Months Ended     Six Months Ended     Six Months Ended  
    September 30, 2023     September 30, 2022     September 30, 2023     September 30, 2022  

Revenues                        
Royalty revenue   $ —     $ 77     $ 75     $ 77  

Total Revenues     —       77       75       77  
Research and development expenses     1,335       1,231       3,001       2,251  
Selling, general and administrative expenses     2,780       2,200       5,384       4,419  

Total costs and expenses     4,115       3,431       8,385       6,670  
Loss from Operations     (4,115 )     (3,354 )     (8,310 )     (6,593 )
Other Income (Expense)                        

(Loss) gain on investment in equity securities     —       (70 )     12       (75 )
Interest income     121       103       278       134  

Total Other Income     121       33       290       59  
Income Tax Expense     —       —       (2 )     (2 )

Net Loss   $ (3,994 )   $ (3,321 )   $ (8,022 )   $ (6,536 )
Other Comprehensive Loss:                        

Unrealized loss on available-for-sale debt securities   $ (1 )   $ —     $ (1 )   $ —  

Comprehensive Loss   $ (3,995 )   $ (3,321 )   $ (8,023 )   $ (6,536 )
Net loss per common share—basic and diluted   $ (0.46 )   $ (0.38 )   $ (0.92 )   $ (0.75 )
Weighted average shares used in computing 
   net loss per common share—basic and 
   diluted     8,718,502       8,712,284       8,717,870       8,711,630  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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Organovo Holdings, Inc.

Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(in thousands)

 

    Three and Six Months Ended September 30, 2022  
                                                 
    Common Stock           Treasury Stock                    

    Shares    
Amoun

t    

Additional      
Paid-in 
Capital    

Share
s    

Amou
nt    

Accumulate
d Deficit    

Accumulate
d Other 

Comprehens
ive Income     Total  

Balance at March 31, 2022     8,711     $ 9     $ 337,940       —     $ (1 )   $ (307,739 )   $ —     $ 30,209  
Issuance of common stock under employee and director stock 
option, RSU, and purchase plans     1       —       —       —       —       —       —       —  
Stock-based compensation expense     —       —       660       —       —       —       —       660  
Net loss     —       —       —       —       —       (3,215 )     —       (3,215 )

Balance at June 30, 2022  (Unaudited)     8,712     $ 9     $ 338,600       —     $ (1 )   $ (310,954 )   $ —     $ 27,654  

Issuance of common stock under employee and director stock 
option, RSU, and purchase plans     1       —       —       —       —       —       —       —  
Stock-based compensation expense     —       —       673       —       —       —       —       673  
Net loss     —       —       —       —       —       (3,321 )     —       (3,321 )

Balance at September 30, 2022 (Unaudited)     8,713     $ 9     $ 339,273       —     $ (1 )   $ (314,275 )   $ —     $ 25,006  

                                                 
    Three and Six Months Ended September 30, 2023  
                                                 
    Common Stock           Treasury Stock                    

    Shares    
Amoun

t    

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital    

Share
s    

Amou
nt    

Accumulate
d Deficit    

Accumulate
d Other 

Comprehens
ive Income     Total  

Balance at March 31, 2023     8,717     $ 9     $ 340,317       —     $ (1 )   $ (324,998 )   $ 2     $ 15,329  
Issuance of common stock under employee and director stock 
option, RSU, and purchase plans     1       —       —       —       —       —       —       —  
Stock-based compensation     —       —       475       —       —       —       —       475  
Net loss     —       —       —       —       —       (4,028 )     —       (4,028 )

Balance at June 30, 2023 (Unaudited)     8,718     $ 9     $ 340,792       —     $ (1 )   $ (329,026 )   $ 2     $ 11,776  

Issuance of common stock under employee and director stock 
option, RSU, and purchase plans     1       —       —       —       —       —       —       —  
Stock-based compensation     —       —       675       —       —       —       —       675  
Net loss     —       —       —       —       —       (3,994 )     —       (3,994 )
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale debt securities     —       —       —       —       —       —       (1 )     (1 )

Balance at September 30, 2023 (Unaudited)     8,719     $ 9     $ 341,467       —     $ (1 )   $ (333,020 )   $ 1     $ 8,456  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Organovo Holdings, Inc.

Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

 
    Six Months Ended     Six Months Ended  
    September 30, 2023     September 30, 2022  

Cash Flows From Operating Activities            
Net loss   $ (8,022 )   $ (6,536 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:            

(Gain) loss on investment in equity securities     (12 )     75  
Accretion on investments     (103 )     (62 )
Depreciation and amortization     138       104  
Stock-based compensation     1,150       1,333  
Increase (decrease) in cash resulting from changes in:            

Accounts receivable     97       —  
Prepaid expenses and other assets     371       443  
Accounts payable     104       26  
Accrued expenses     (2,182 )     (27 )
Operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities, net     (1 )     13  

Net cash used in operating activities     (8,460 )     (4,631 )
Cash Flows From Investing Activities            

Purchases of fixed assets     (42 )     (193 )
Purchases of investments     (7,900 )     (9,893 )
Maturities of investments     8,000       —  
Purchases of equity securities     —       (1,061 )
Sales of equity securities     —       368  
Liquidation of equity securities     718       —  

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities     776       (10,779 )
Cash Flows From Financing Activities            

Net cash provided by financing activities     —       —  
Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash     (7,684 )     (15,410 )
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period     15,444       28,818  

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period   $ 7,760     $ 13,408  
Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash to the condensed
   consolidated balance sheets            
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 7,617     $ 13,265  
Restricted cash     143       143  

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash   $ 7,760     $ 13,408  
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:            
Income taxes paid   $ 2     $ 2  
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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Organovo Holdings, Inc.

Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Note 1. Description of Business 

Nature of Operations

Organovo Holdings, Inc. (“Organovo Holdings,” “Organovo,” and the “Company”) is a pharmaceutical and biotechnology company that focuses on clinical 
drug development of the farnesoid X receptor (“FXR”) agonist FXR314. FXR is a mediator of gastrointestinal and liver diseases. FXR agonism has been 
tested in a variety of preclinical models of inflammatory bowel disease ("IBD"). FXR314 is the lead compound in the Company's established FXR program 
containing two clinically tested compounds (including FXR314) and over 2,000 discovery or preclinical compounds. FXR314 is a drug with safety and 
tolerability after daily oral dosing in Phase 1 and Phase 2 trials. Further, FXR314 has FDA clinical trial authorization for a Phase 2 trial in ulcerative colitis 
("UC").

The Company’s current clinical focus is in advancing FXR314 in IBD, including UC and Crohn’s disease (“CD”). The Company plans to start a Phase 2a 
clinical trial in UC in the calendar year 2024. 

A second focus of the Company is building high fidelity, 3D tissues that recapitulate key aspects of human disease. The Company uses its proprietary 
technology to build functional 3D human tissues that mimic key aspects of native human tissue composition, architecture, function and disease. 
Management believes these attributes can enable critical complex, multicellular disease models that can be used to develop clinically effective drugs across 
multiple therapeutic areas.

As with the clinical development program, the Company is initially focusing on the intestine and has ongoing 3D tissue development efforts in human 
tissue models of UC and CD. The Company uses these models to identify new molecular targets responsible for driving these diseases and to explore the 
mechanism of action of known drugs including FXR314 and related molecules. The Company intends to initiate drug discovery programs around these new 
validated targets to identify drug candidates for partnering and/or internal clinical development. 

The Company’s current understanding of intestinal tissue models and IBD disease models leads it to believe that it can create models that provide greater 
insight into the biology of these diseases than are generally currently available. The Company is creating high fidelity disease models, leveraging its prior 
work including the work found in its peer-reviewed publication on bioprinted intestinal tissues (Madden et al. Bioprinted 3D Primary Human Intestinal 
Tissues Model Aspects of Native Physiology and ADME/Tox Functions. iScience. 2018 Apr 27;2:156-167. doi: 10.1016/j.isci.2018.03.015.) Organovo’s 
advances include cell type-specific compartments, prevalent intercellular tight junctions, and the formation of microvascular structures.

Using these disease models, the Company intends to identify and validate novel therapeutic targets. After finding therapeutic drug targets, the Company 
intends to focus on developing novel small molecule, antibody, or other therapeutic drug candidates to treat the disease, and advance these novel drug 
candidates towards an Investigational New Drug (“IND”) filing and potential future clinical trials. 

The Company expects to broaden its work into additional therapeutic areas over time and is currently exploring specific tissues for development. In the 
Company’s work to identify the areas of interest, it evaluates areas that might be better served with 3D disease models than currently available models as 
well as the potential commercial opportunity. In line with these plans, the Company is building upon both its external and in house scientific expertise, 
which will be essential to its drug development effort.

Except where specifically noted or the context otherwise requires, references to “Organovo Holdings”, “the Company”, and “Organovo” in these notes to 
the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements refers to Organovo Holdings, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Organovo, Inc., and Opal 
Merger Sub, Inc.
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Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not 
necessarily include all information and notes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. The condensed consolidated balance sheet at March 31, 
2023 is derived from the Company’s audited consolidated balance sheet at that date. 

The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Organovo and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All material intercompany 
accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. In the opinion of management, the unaudited financial information for the interim periods 
presented reflects all adjustments, which are only normal and recurring, necessary for a fair statement of the Company’s financial position, results of 
operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows. These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the 
audited financial statements and notes included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2023, as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Operating results for any interim period are not necessarily indicative of the operating results for any other 
interim period or the Company’s full fiscal year ending March 31, 2024 (see “Note 1. Description of Business”).
 

Liquidity and Going Concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis that we are a going concern, which contemplates, among other things, 
the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. As of September 30, 2023, the Company had cash and cash 
equivalents of approximately $7.6 million, restricted cash of approximately $0.1 million and an accumulated deficit of approximately $333.0 million. The 
restricted cash was pledged as collateral for a letter of credit that the Company is required to maintain as a security deposit under the terms of the lease 
agreement for its facilities. The Company also had negative cash flows from operations of approximately $8.5 million during the six months ended 
September 30, 2023. 

Through September 30, 2023, the Company has financed its operations primarily through the sale of common stock through public and at-the-market 
(“ATM”) offerings, the private placement of equity securities, from revenue derived from the licensing of intellectual property, products and research 
service-based services, grants, and collaborative research agreements, and from the sale of convertible notes. During the six months ended September 30, 
2023, the Company issued zero shares of its common stock through its ATM facility.

Based on the Company's current operating plan and available cash resources, it will need substantial additional funding to support future operating 
activities. The Company has concluded that the prevailing conditions and ongoing liquidity risks faced by it raise substantial doubt about its ability to 
continue as a going concern for at least one year following the date these financial statements are issued. The accompanying consolidated financial 
statements do not include any adjustments that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. As the Company 
continues its operations and is focusing its efforts on drug discovery and development, the Company will need to raise additional capital to implement this 
business plan. The Company cannot predict with certainty the exact amount or timing for any future capital raises. The Company will seek to raise 
additional capital through debt or equity financings, or through some other financing arrangement. However, the Company cannot be sure that additional 
financing will be available if and when needed, or that, if available, it can obtain financing on terms favorable to its stockholders. Any failure to obtain 
financing when required will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results, and financial condition.  

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. On an 
ongoing basis, management reviews these estimates and assumptions. 

Investments 
 

Investments consist of investments in debt securities and investments in equity securities.
 
Investments in debt securities consist of investments in U.S. Treasury bills. As of September 30, 2023, all investments that have original maturities of three 
months or less are classified as cash equivalents on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. Prior to 
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December 31, 2022, the Company classified certain investments as held-to-maturity. All investments previously classified as held-to-maturity matured prior 
to December 31, 2022. As of September 30, 2023 and March 31, 2023, all investments are classified as available-for-sale, as the sale of such investments 
may be required prior to maturity to implement management strategies. Available-for-sale debt securities are recorded at fair value. Any unrealized gains 
and losses are included in accumulated other comprehensive income as a component of stockholders' equity until realized. As U.S. Treasury bills have 
minimal risk, any declines in fair value are considered temporary. 
 
Investments in equity securities consist of investments in the common stock of entities traded in active markets. The Company does not have the ability to 
exercise significant influence over any entities. Therefore, initial investments are recorded at cost, and are remeasured at fair value as of the balance sheet 
date. Any gains or losses resulting from the change in fair value are recorded in net income. The investments in equity securities are classified as current 
assets.

Fair value measurement 

Financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value, which is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the 
measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable 
inputs. The following is a fair value hierarchy based on three levels of inputs, of which the first two are considered observable and the last unobservable, 
that may be used to measure fair value: 

• Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2 — Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; 
quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for 
substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities. 

• Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or 
liabilities. 

Net Loss Per Share 

Basic and diluted net loss per share has been computed using the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. The 
weighted-average number of shares used to compute diluted loss per share excludes any assumed exercise of stock options, shares reserved for purchase 
under the Company’s 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ 2016 ESPP”), the assumed vesting of restricted stock units (“RSUs”), and shares subject to 
repurchase as the effect would be anti-dilutive. No dilutive effect was calculated for each of the six months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 as the 
Company reported a net loss for each respective period and the effect would have been anti-dilutive.

Common stock equivalents excluded from computing diluted net loss per share due to their anti-dilutive effect were approximately 1.0 million at September 
30, 2023 and 1.4 million at September 30, 2022. 

Revenue recognition

The Company has generated revenues from payments received from licensing intellectual property.
     
The Company has entered into a license agreement with a company that includes the following:  (i) non-refundable upfront fees and (ii) royalties based on 
specified percentages of net product sales, if any. At the initiation of the agreement, the Company has analyzed whether it results in a contract with a 
customer under Topic 606.
 
The Company has considered a variety of factors in determining the appropriate estimates and assumptions under these arrangements, such as whether the 
Company is a principal vs. agent, whether the elements are distinct performance obligations, whether there are determinable stand-alone prices, and 
whether any licenses are functional or symbolic. The Company has evaluated each performance obligation to determine if it can be satisfied and recognized 
as revenue at a point in time or over time. Typically, non-refundable upfront fees have been considered fixed, while sales-based royalty payments have been 
identified as variable consideration which must be evaluated to determine if it has been constrained and, therefore, excluded from the transaction price. 
Please refer to “Note 6: Collaborative Research, Development, and License Agreements” for further information.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) or other standard setting bodies. 
Unless otherwise stated, the Company believes that the impact of the recently issued accounting 
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pronouncements that are not yet effective will not have a material impact on its consolidated financial position or results of operations upon adoption.

Note 3. Investments and Fair Value Measurement
 
Investments in debt securities

As of September 30, 2023, the Company held $3.0 million of investments in debt securities (which are included in the $7.6 million of cash and cash 
equivalents). For each of the three and six months ended September 30, 2023, there was $0.1 million of interest income related to the investments in debt 
securities. As the investments in debt securities consist of U.S. Treasury bills from active markets, the fair value is measured using level 1 inputs.
 
The following table summarizes the Company's investments in debt securities that are measured at fair value as of September 30, 2023 (in thousands):
 
    Amortized costs basis     Gross unrealized gains     Gross unrealized losses     Fair value  
As of March 31, 2023                        
Investment in debt securities   $ 4,943     $ 2     $ —     $ 4,945  

As of September 30, 2023                        
Investment in debt securities   $ 2,992     $ 1     $ —     $ 2,993  

 
Investments in equity securities

For the six months ended September 30, 2023, there was $0.7 million of equity securities liquidated and less than a $0.1 million gain on the investment in 
equity securities. As of September 30, 2023, the fair value of investment in equity securities was zero, as a result of the liquidation of the shares by the 
underlying company during the six months ended September 30, 2023. As the investment in equity securities consists of common stock from active 
markets, the fair value is measured using level 1 inputs. 
 
The following table presents the activity for investments in equity securities measured at fair value for the six months ended September 30, 2023 (in 
thousands):
 

   
Investment in Equity Securities

(in thousands)  
Balance at March 31, 2023   $ 706  

Liquidation of equity securities     (718 )
Gain on investment in equity securities    12  

Balance at September 30, 2023  $ —  

 

Note 4. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):

 
 

 
September 30,

2023    
March 31,

2023  
Accrued compensation   $ 283     $ 609  
Accrued legal and professional fees     49       193  
Acquired in-process research and development     —       2,000  
Other accrued expenses     334       46  
    $ 666     $ 2,848  
 

Note 5. Stockholders’ Equity 

Preferred Stock 

The Company is authorized to issue 25,000,000 shares of preferred stock. There are no shares of preferred stock currently outstanding, and the Company 
has no current plans to issue shares of preferred stock. 
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Common Stock

In March 2021, the Company's Board of Directors ("Board") approved the 2021 Inducement Equity Incentive Plan ("Inducement Plan"). The Inducement 
Plan authorized the issuance of up to 750,000 shares of common stock for awards of incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options, stock appreciation 
rights, restricted stock, RSUs, performance units, performance shares, and other stock or cash awards. The only persons eligible to receive grants under the 
Inducement Plan are individuals who satisfy the standards for inducement grants under Nasdaq guidance. The Company also committed to reducing the 
aggregate number of shares of its common stock issuable pursuant to the Inducement Plan from 750,000 shares to 51,000 shares (which includes 50,000 
shares of its common stock issuable pursuant to an outstanding option to purchase common stock with an exercise price of $2.75 per share, leaving only 
1,000 shares available for future issuance under the Inducement Plan) and the share reserve was reduced accordingly effective October 12, 2022. As of 
September 30, 2023, there were 1,000 shares available for future grant under the Inducement Plan. 

On October 12, 2022, the Company's stockholders and the Board approved the 2022 Equity Incentive Plan ("2022 Plan"), and it became effective on that 
date. The 2022 Plan replaced the Amended and Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan ("2012 Plan") on the effective date. Upon the effective date, the 
Company ceased granting awards under the 2012 Plan and any shares remaining available for future issuance under the 2012 Plan were cancelled and are 
no longer available for future issuance. The 2012 Plan continues to govern awards previously granted under it. At the time the Board approved the 2022 
Plan, an aggregate of 1,363,000 shares of the Company’s common stock was initially reserved for issuance under the 2022 Plan. The Company committed 
to reducing the 2022 Plan share reserve by the number of shares that were granted under the 2012 Plan and the Inducement Plan between July 25, 2022 and 
October 12, 2022. From July 25, 2022 to October 12, 2022, the Company issued 126,262 shares of its common stock under the 2012 Plan. As a result, the 
number of shares initially reserved for future issuance under the 2022 Plan was 1,236,738 shares of common stock. As of September 30, 2023, 1,672,574 
shares were available for future grant under the 2022 Plan and 174,264 shares were subject to outstanding stock options.

The Company previously had an effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-222929), declared effective by the SEC on February 22, 
2018 (the “2018 Shelf”), which registered $100.0 million of common stock, preferred stock, warrants and units, or any combination of the foregoing, that 
expired on February 22, 2021. On January 19, 2021, the Company filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-252224) to register $150.0 
million of the Company’s common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants and units, or any combination of the foregoing (the “2021 Shelf”). The 
2021 Shelf was declared effective by the SEC on January 29, 2021 and replaced the 2018 Shelf at that time. 

On March 16, 2018, the Company entered into a Sales Agreement (“Sales Agreement”) with H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC and Jones Trading Institutional 
Services LLC (each an “Agent” and together, the “Agents”). On January 29, 2021, the Company filed a prospectus supplement to the 2021 Shelf (the “ATM 
Prospectus Supplement”), pursuant to which the Company may offer and sell, from time to time, through the Agents, shares of its common stock in ATM 
sales transactions having an aggregate offering price of up to $50.0 million. Any shares offered and sold will be issued pursuant to the 2021 Shelf. During 
the six months ended September 30, 2023, the Company issued zero shares of common stock in ATM offerings under the ATM Prospectus Supplement. As 
of September 30, 2023, the Company has sold an aggregate of 1,580,862 shares of common stock in ATM offerings under the ATM Prospectus 
Supplement, with gross proceeds of approximately $21.7 million. As of September 30, 2023, there was approximately $100.0 million available for future 
offerings under the 2021 Shelf (excluding amounts available but not yet issued under the ATM Prospectus Supplement), and approximately $28.3 million 
available for future offerings through the Company’s ATM program under the ATM Prospectus Supplement. 

Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes the Company’s RSUs activity for the six months ended September 30, 2023:

 

   
Number of

Shares    
Weighted

Average Price  
Unvested at March 31, 2023     127,717     $ 2.22  
Granted     —     $ —  
Vested     (2,575 )   $ 10.54  
Cancelled / forfeited     —     $ —  

Unvested at September 30, 2023     125,142     $ 2.05  
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Stock Options 

During the six months ended September 30, 2023, under the 2022 Plan, 131,257 stock options were granted at various exercise prices.

On August 28, 2023, the Company's Executive Chairman voluntarily forfeited 462,500 outstanding stock options, of which 312,918 were unvested and 
therefore cancelled, and 149,582 were vested and therefore expired. The forfeited stock option awards were not replaced by other awards or other 
compensation and there is no plan to replace the forfeited awards. Therefore, all previous unrecognized compensation expense associated with the forfeited 
awards, approximately $519,000, was recognized as a selling, general, and administrative expense on the date of forfeiture.

The following table summarizes the Company’s stock option activity from March 31, 2023 to September 30, 2023: 
 

   
Options

Outstanding    

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price    

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value  
Outstanding at March 31, 2023     1,451,217     $ 6.49     $ 38,327  
Options granted     131,257     $ 1.81     $ —  
Options cancelled / forfeited     (575,278 )   $ 7.21     $ —  
Options expired     (157,082 )   $ 7.73     $ —  
Outstanding at September 30, 2023     850,114     $ 5.05     $ —  
Vested and Exercisable at September 30, 2023     514,797     $ 6.55     $ —  

 
The weighted average remaining contractual term of stock options exercisable and outstanding at September 30, 2023 was approximately 5.08 years. 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In June 2016, the Board adopted, and in August 2016, the Company’s stockholders subsequently approved, the 2016 ESPP. The Company reserved 75,000 
shares of common stock for issuance thereunder. The 2016 ESPP permits employees after five months of service to purchase common stock through payroll 
deductions, limited to 15 percent of each employee’s compensation up to $25,000 per employee per year or 500 shares per employee per six-month 
purchase period. Shares under the 2016 ESPP are purchased at 85 percent of the fair market value at the lower of (i) the closing price on the first trading 
day of the six-month purchase period or (ii) the closing price on the last trading day of the six-month purchase period. The initial offering period 
commenced in September 2016. At September 30, 2023, there were 58,426 shares available for purchase under the 2016 ESPP. 
In July 2023, the Board adopted, and on October 31, 2023, the Company's stockholders subsequently approved, the 2023 Employee Stock Purchase Plan 
(the "2023 ESPP"). The 2023 ESPP became effective on October 31, 2023 and replaced the 2016 ESPP on that date. The Company reserved 45,000 shares 
of common stock for issuance thereunder.  

Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuance 

Common stock reserved for future issuance consisted of the following at September 30, 2023: 
 

Common stock issuable pursuant to options outstanding and reserved under the 2012 Plan     625,850  
Common stock reserved under the 2012 Plan     —  
Common stock issuable pursuant to options outstanding and reserved under the 2022 Plan     174,264  
Common stock reserved under the 2022 Plan     1,672,574  
Common stock reserved under the 2016 ESPP     58,426  
Common stock reserved under the 2021 Inducement Equity Plan     1,000  
Common stock issuable pursuant to restricted stock units outstanding under the 2012 Plan     7,500  
Common stock issuable pursuant to restricted stock units outstanding under the 2022 Plan     117,642  
Common stock issuable pursuant to options outstanding and reserved under the Inducement Plan     50,000  

Total at September  30, 2023     2,707,256  
 

Stock-based Compensation Expense and Valuation Information

Stock-based awards include stock options and RSUs under the 2022 Plan, 2012 Plan, Inducement Plan, and rights to purchase stock under the ESPP. The 
Company calculates the grant date fair value of all stock-based awards in determining the stock-based compensation expense. 
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Stock-based compensation expense for all stock-based awards consists of the following (in thousands):
 

    Three Months Ended     Three Months Ended     Six Months Ended     Six Months Ended  
    September 30, 2023     September 30, 2022     September 30, 2023     September 30, 2022  

Research and development   $ (60 )   $ 125     $ 47     $ 246  
General and administrative     735       548       1,103       1,087  
Total   $ 675     $ 673     $ 1,150     $ 1,333  

 
The total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock option grants as of September 30, 2023 was approximately $0.7 million and the 
weighted average period over which these grants are expected to vest is 2.53 years.

The total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested RSUs as of September 30, 2023 was less than $0.1 million, which will be recognized over a 
weighted average period of 1.20 years.
 
The Company uses either the Black-Scholes or Monte Carlo option-pricing models to calculate the fair value of stock options, depending on the complexity 
of the equity grants. Stock-based compensation expense is recognized over the vesting period using the straight-line method. The assumed dividend yield is 
based on the Company’s expectation of not paying dividends in the foreseeable future. The Company uses the Company-specific historical volatility rate as 
the indicator of expected volatility. The risk-free interest rate assumption is based on U.S. Treasury rates. The weighted average expected life of options 
was estimated using the average of the contractual term and the weighted average vesting term of the options. The measurement and classification of share-
based payments to non-employees is consistent with the measurement and classification of share-based payments to employees. The fair value of stock 
options was estimated at the grant date using the following weighted average assumptions:
 

    Three Months Ended     Three Months Ended     Six Months Ended     Six Months Ended  
    September 30, 2023*     September 30, 2022     September 30, 2023     September 30, 2022  

Dividend yield     —       —       —       —  
Volatility     0.00 %    95.93 %    98.51 %    95.41 %
Risk-free interest rate     0.00 %    3.30 %    3.95 %    3.18 %
Expected life of options   0     6.00 years     6.00 years     6.00 years  
Weighted average grant
   date fair value   $ —     $ 1.85     $ 1.45     $ 1.99  

 
*There were no stock options granted during the three months ended September 30, 2023.

The fair value of each RSU and performance-based RSU is recognized as stock-based compensation expense over the vesting term of the award. The fair 
value is based on the closing stock price on the date of the grant.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes valuation model to calculate the fair value of shares issued pursuant to the ESPP. Stock-based compensation expense 
is recognized over the purchase period using the straight-line method. The assumed dividend yield is based on the Company’s expectation of not paying 
dividends in the foreseeable future. The Company uses the Company-specific historical volatility rate as the indicator of expected volatility. The risk-free 
interest rate assumption is based on U.S. Treasury rates. The expected life is the 6-month purchase period. There were no participants in the ESPP for the 
current purchase period (beginning March 1, 2023), nor any participants in the ESPP for the comparative period. 

Note 6. Collaborative Research, Development, and License Agreements 

License Agreements

From June 2021 to February 2022, certain patents owned or sublicensed by the Company became the subject of inter partes review proceedings filed by 
Cellink AB and its subsidiaries (collectively, “BICO Group AB”). The Company and BICO Group AB were also engaged in litigation regarding patent 
infringement during the same time period. On February 22, 2022, the Company and BICO Group AB signed a settlement and patent license agreement 
(“License Agreement”) to close all matters noted above. In addition to closing all legal matters and patent disputes noted above, as part of the agreement, 
the Company agreed to grant a non-exclusive license to BICO Group AB to use the Company’s aforementioned patents for its business operations of 
manufacturing and selling bioprinters as well as bioinks. The Company concluded that the nature of the license granted represents functional intellectual 
property. 

As part of the License Agreement, BICO Group AB agreed to pay the Company ongoing sales-based royalties (based on percentages of BICO Group AB’s 
net sales) for the use of the granted license. The sales-based royalties became effective beginning on February 22, 2022, the effective date of the License 
Agreement, and continue until the expiration of the last surviving licensed patent. As the sales-based royalties are required to be paid 45 days after the end 
of every quarter, there is variable consideration that must be estimated to determine royalty revenue within a given reporting period. For the six months 
ended September 30, 2023, the Company 
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recorded $75,000 of royalty revenue based on sales-based royalties from the License Agreement. This recognized revenue is related to sales-based royalties 
earned from April 1, 2023 through September 30, 2023.

Also as part of the License Agreement, certain patents involved in the agreement are sublicensed by the Company from the University of Missouri and 
Clemson University. See below for further information. 

University of Missouri

In March 2009, the Company entered into a license agreement with the Curators of the University of Missouri ("University of Missouri") to in-license 
certain technology and intellectual property relating to self-assembling cell aggregates and intermediate cellular units. The Company received the exclusive 
worldwide rights to commercialize products comprising this technology for all fields of use. The Company is required to pay the University of Missouri 
royalties ranging from 1% to 3% of net sales of covered tissue products, and of the fair market value of covered tissues transferred internally for use in the 
Company’s commercial service business, depending on the level of net sales achieved by the Company each year. 

The license agreement with the University of Missouri also includes an additional sales royalty of 3% of all revenue received from a sublicensee, when 
such sublicense is entered pursuant to settlement of litigation. Such revenue shall include, but not be limited to, all option fees, license issue fees (up-front 
payments), license maintenance fees, equity, and all royalty payments. Such revenue shall not include research funding provided to licensee by sublicensee. 
However, per the agreement, in the event that the Company defends the technology by litigation, it can offset any royalties due by legal expenses incurred. 
No royalty expense related to sales-based royalties has been recorded to date. 

On December 5, 2022, the Company amended the license agreement with the University of Missouri, where the Company agreed to pay a single, up-front 
payment of $50,000 to the University of Missouri in exchange for the aforementioned licensed intellectual property to be fully paid up by the Company. As 
a result, the Company will continue to have rights to the licensed intellectual property until its expiration, but will no longer owe minimum annual royalty 
payments, royalty payments based on net sales, or any other payments (other than patent annuities and any prosecution costs) in the future.

Clemson University

In May 2011, the Company entered into a license agreement with Clemson University Research Foundation ("CURF") to in-license certain technology and 
intellectual property relating to ink-jet printing of viable cells. The Company received the exclusive worldwide rights to commercialize products 
comprising this technology for all fields of use. The Company is required to pay CURF royalties ranging from 1.5% to 3% of net sales of covered tissue 
products and the fair market value of covered tissues transferred internally for use in the Company’s commercial service business, depending on the level of 
net sales reached each year. The license agreement terminates upon expiration of the patents licensed, which are expected to expire in May 2024, and is 
subject to certain conditions as defined in the license agreement. Minimum annual royalty payments of $20,000 were due for two years beginning in 
calendar 2014, and $40,000 per year beginning in calendar 2016. Royalty payments of $40,000 were made in each of the years ended March 31, 2023 and 
2022. The annual minimum royalty is creditable against royalties owed during the same calendar year.
 
In addition to the annual royalties noted above, CURF is owed 40% of all payments including but not limited to, upfront payments, license fees, issue fees, 
maintenance fees, and milestone payments received from third parties, including sublicensees, in consideration for sublicensing rights to licensed products. 
However, per the agreement, in the event that the Company defends the technology by litigation, it can offset any royalties due by legal expenses incurred. 
As of September 30, 2023, the Company’s legal expenses exceeded royalties owed from the upfront payment and sales-based royalties related to the license 
agreement. Therefore, no royalty expense to CURF was recorded for the six months ended September 30, 2023. No royalty expense related to sales-based 
royalties has been recorded to date.  

 
Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies 

Legal Matters 

In addition to commitments and obligations in the ordinary course of business, the Company may be subject, from time to time, to various claims and 
pending and potential legal actions arising out of the normal conduct of its business. 

The Company assesses contingencies to determine the degree of probability and range of possible loss for potential accrual in its financial statements. 
Because litigation is inherently unpredictable and unfavorable resolutions could occur, assessing litigation contingencies is subjective and requires 
judgments about future events. When evaluating contingencies, the Company may be unable to provide a meaningful estimate due to a number of factors, 
including the procedural status of the matter in question, the presence of 
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complex or novel legal theories, and/or the ongoing discovery and development of information important to the matters. In addition, damage amounts 
claimed in litigation against it may be unsupported, exaggerated or unrelated to possible outcomes, and as such are not meaningful indicators of its potential 
liability.

The Company regularly reviews contingencies to determine the adequacy of its accruals and related disclosures. During the period presented, the Company 
has not recorded any accrual for loss contingencies associated with any claims or legal proceedings; determined that an unfavorable outcome is probable or 
reasonably possible; or determined that the amount or range of any possible loss is reasonably estimable. However, the outcome of legal proceedings and 
claims brought against the Company is subject to significant uncertainty. Therefore, although management considers the likelihood of such an outcome to 
be remote, if one or more legal matters were resolved against the Company in a reporting period, the Company’s consolidated financial statements for that 
reporting period could be materially adversely affected.

Note 8. Leases

After the initial adoption of Accounting Standards Codification Topic 842 (“ASC 842”), on an on-going basis, the Company evaluates all contracts upon 
inception and determines whether the contract contains a lease by assessing whether there is an identified asset and whether the contract conveys the right 
to control the use of the identified asset in exchange for consideration over a period of time. If a lease is identified, the Company will apply the guidance 
from ASC 842 to properly account for the lease.

Operating Leases

On November 23, 2020, the Company entered into a lease agreement, pursuant to which the Company permanently leased approximately 8,051 square feet 
of lab and office space (the “Permanent Lease”) in San Diego once certain tenant improvements were completed by the landlord and the premises were 
ready for occupancy. Additionally, on November 17, 2021, the Permanent Lease was amended to add an additional 2,892 square feet of office space in the 
same building. The Permanent Lease commenced on December 17, 2021 and is intended to serve as the Company’s permanent premises for approximately 
sixty-two months. Monthly rental payments will be approximately $40,800 with 3% annual escalators. 

The Company determined that the Permanent Lease is considered an operating lease under ASC 842, and therefore upon the lease commencement date of 
December 17, 2021, recognized lease liabilities and corresponding right-of-use assets of $2.3 million. The Company records operating lease expense on a 
straight-line basis over the life of the lease (referred to as “operating lease expense”). Variable lease expenses associated with the Company’s leases, such as 
payments for additional monthly fees to cover the Company’s share of certain facility expenses (common area maintenance) are expensed as incurred. 

The table below summarizes the Company’s lease liabilities and corresponding right-of-use assets as of September 30, 2023 (in thousands except the year 
and percentage):
 

  September 30, 2023  

ASSETS     
Operating lease right-of-use assets   $ 1,505  

Total lease right-of-use assets   $ 1,505  
       
LIABILITIES      
Current      
Operating lease liability   $ 499  
Noncurrent      
Operating lease liability, net of current portion   $ 1,105  

Total lease liabilities   $ 1,604  
    
Weighted average remaining lease term:   3.33  
Weighted average discount rate:    6 %
 
Variable lease expense was approximately $39,000 and $75,000 for the three and six months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, and approximately 
$41,000 and $76,000 for the three and six months ended September 30, 2022, respectively. Operating lease expense was approximately $126,000 and 
$252,000 for the three and six months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, and approximately $129,000 and $258,000 for the three and six months 
ended September 30, 2022, respectively.
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Cash flows associated with the Company’s operating lease for the three and six months ended September 30, 2023, were approximately  $126,000 and 
$252,000 respectively, and approximately $122,000 and $245,000 for the three and six months ended September 30, 2022, respectively. 

Future lease payments relating to the Company’s operating lease liabilities as of September 30, 2023, are as follows (in thousands):
 
Fiscal year ending March 31, 2024   $ 256  
Fiscal year ending March 31, 2025     523  
Fiscal year ending March 31, 2026     538  
Fiscal year ending March 31, 2027     460  
Total future lease payments     1,777  
Less: Imputed interest     (173 )
Total lease obligations     1,604  
Less: Current obligations     (499 )

Noncurrent lease obligations   $ 1,105  

 
Note 9. Concentrations 

Credit risk and significant customers

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of temporary cash investments. The Company 
maintains cash balances at various financial institutions located within the United States. Accounts at these institutions are secured by the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation. Balances may exceed federally insured limits. The Company is also potentially subject to concentrations of credit risk in its 
revenues and accounts receivable. However, the Company only receives royalty revenue from one licensee and has not historically experienced any 
accounts receivable write-downs. 
 
Note 10. Related Parties

From time to time, the Company will enter into an agreement with a related party in the ordinary course of its business. These agreements are ratified by 
the Board or a committee thereof pursuant to its related party transaction policy. 

Viscient Biosciences (“Viscient”) is an entity for which Keith Murphy, the Company’s Executive Chairman, serves as the Chief Executive Officer and 
President. Dr. Jeffrey Miner, the Company’s former Chief Scientific Officer, is also the Chief Scientific Officer of Viscient, and Thomas Jurgensen, the 
Company’s former General Counsel, previously served as outside legal counsel to Viscient through his law firm, Optima Law Group, APC.  

On December 28, 2020, the Company entered into an intercompany agreement (the “Intercompany Agreement”) with Viscient and Organovo, Inc., the 
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, which included an asset purchase agreement for certain lab equipment. Pursuant to the Intercompany Agreement, the 
Company agreed to provide Viscient certain services related to 3D bioprinting technology, which include, but are not limited to, histology services, cell 
isolation, and proliferation of cells and Viscient agreed to provide the Company certain services related to 3D bioprinting technology, including bioprinter 
training, bioprinting services, and qPCR assays, in each case on payment terms specified in the Intercompany Agreement and as may be further determined 
by the parties. In addition, the Company and Viscient each agreed to share certain facilities and equipment and, subject to further agreement, to each make 
certain employees available for specified projects for the other party at prices to be determined in good faith by the parties. The Company evaluated the 
accounting for the Intercompany Agreement and concluded that any services provided by Viscient to the Company will be expensed as incurred, and any 
compensation for services provided by the Company to Viscient will be considered a reduction of personnel related expenses. Any services provided to 
Viscient do not fall under Topic 606 as the Intercompany Agreement is not a contract with a customer. For the three and six months ended September 30, 
2023 and 2022, the Company incurred no consulting expenses from Viscient. Additionally, for the three and six months ended September 30, 2023, the 
Company provided approximately less than $1,000 and $10,000 of histology services to Viscient, respectively, and $16,000 and $27,000  for the three and 
six months ended September 30, 2022.    
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Note 11. Restructuring

On August 18, 2023, the Company announced to its employees a plan to reduce the Company’s workforce, effective August 25, 2023, by approximately six 
employees, which represented approximately 24% of its employees as of August 18, 2023. The Company has refocused operations on FXR314, its clinical 
drug candidate. This decision to reduce the Company’s workforce was made in order to focus spending on the Company’s clinical program for FXR314, 
reduce ongoing operating expenses not related to clinical expenses, and extend the Company’s cash runway. The Company estimates that it will incur 
approximately $0.4 million of cash expenditures in connection with the reduction in force, which relate to severance pay, and are expected to be incurred 
through the quarter ending March 31, 2024. The Company anticipates annual cost savings of $1.5 million resulting from the reduction in force.
 

Approximately $0.4 million of restructuring charges were recorded during the three months ended September 30, 2023.

 
    Three Months Ended  

(in thousands)   September 30, 2023  
Severance for Involuntary Employee
   Terminations   $ 380  
Total Restructuring Expense   $ 380  
 
The following table summarizes the activity and balances of the restructuring reserve (in thousands):
 

   
Severance for Involuntary 

Employee Terminations  
Balance at March 31, 2023   $ —  
Increase to reserve     380  
Utilization of reserve:      

Payments     (147 )
Balance at September 30, 2023   $ 233  
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

The following management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our historical 
consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023. This 
management’s discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements, such as statements related to our plans, objectives, expectations and 
intentions. Any statements that are not statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements. When used, the words “believe,” “plan,” “intend,” 
“anticipate,” “target,” “estimate,” “expect” and the like, and/or future tense or conditional constructions such as “will,” “may,” “could,” “should,” or 
similar expressions, identify certain of these forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q and are subject to risks and uncertainties, including those described in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as well as the risk 
factors disclosed in our Annual Report on the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
July 14, 2023, and discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors” under Part II, Item 1A in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, that could cause our actual 
results or events to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms 
“Organovo,” the “Company”, “we”, “us” and “our” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q refer to Organovo Holdings, Inc. and its wholly owned 
subsidiaries, Organovo, Inc. and Opal Merger Sub, Inc.

Except to the limited extent required by applicable law, we do not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements to reflect events or 
circumstances occurring after the date of this Quarterly Report. 

Basis of Presentation 

The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-Q have been prepared in accordance with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (the “SEC”) instructions to Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q. Accordingly, the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements 
presented elsewhere in this Form 10-Q and discussed below are unaudited and do not contain all the information required by U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles (“GAAP”) to be included in a full set of financial statements. The audited financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023, 
filed with the SEC on Form 10-K on July 14, 2023, include a summary of our significant accounting policies and should be read in conjunction with this 
Form 10-Q. In the opinion of management, all material adjustments necessary to present fairly the results of operations for such periods have been included 
in this Form 10-Q. All such adjustments are of a normal recurring nature. The results of operations for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the 
results of operations for the entire year. 

Overview

We are a pharmaceutical and biotechnology company that is focusing on clinical drug development of the farnesoid X receptor (“FXR”) agonist FXR314. 
FXR is a mediator of gastrointestinal and liver diseases. FXR agonism has been tested in a variety of preclinical models of inflammatory bowel disease 
("IBD"). FXR314 is the lead compound in our established FXR program containing two clinically tested compounds (including FXR314) and over 2,000 
discovery or preclinical compounds. FXR314 is a drug with safety and tolerability after daily oral dosing in Phase 1 and Phase 2 trials. Further, FXR314 
has FDA clinical trial authorization for a Phase 2 trial in ulcerative colitis ("UC").

Our current clinical focus is in advancing FXR314 in IBD, including UC and Crohn’s disease (“CD”). We plan to start a Phase 2a clinical trial in UC in the 
calendar year 2024. 

Our second focus is building high fidelity, 3D tissues that recapitulate key aspects of human disease. We use our proprietary technology to build functional 
3D human tissues that mimic key aspects of native human tissue composition, architecture, function and disease. We believe these attributes can enable 
critical complex, multicellular disease models that can be used to develop clinically effective drugs across multiple therapeutic areas.

As with the clinical development program, we are initially focusing on the intestine and have ongoing 3D tissue development efforts in human tissue 
models of UC and CD. We use these models to identify new molecular targets responsible for driving the disease and to explore the mechanism of action of 
known drugs including FXR314 and related molecules. We intend to initiate drug discovery programs around these new validated targets to identify drug 
candidates for partnering and/or internal clinical development. 

Our current understanding of intestinal tissue models and IBD disease models leads us to believe that we can create models that provide greater insight into 
the biology of these diseases than are generally currently available. We are creating high fidelity disease models, leveraging our prior work including the 
work found in our peer-reviewed publication on bioprinted intestinal tissues (Madden et al. Bioprinted 3D Primary Human Intestinal Tissues Model 
Aspects of Native Physiology and ADME/Tox Functions. iScience. 
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2018 Apr 27;2:156-167. doi: 10.1016/j.isci.2018.03.015.) Our advances include cell type-specific compartments, prevalent intercellular tight junctions, and 
the formation of microvascular structures.

Using these disease models, we intend to identify and validate novel therapeutic targets. After finding therapeutic drug targets, we intend to focus on 
developing novel small molecule, antibody, or other therapeutic drug candidates to treat the disease, and advance these novel drug candidates towards an 
Investigational New Drug (“IND”) filing and potential future clinical trials. 

We expect to broaden our work into additional therapeutic areas over time and are currently exploring specific tissues for development. In our work to 
identify the areas of interest, we evaluate areas that might be better served with 3D disease models than currently available models as well as the potential 
commercial opportunity. In line with these plans, we are building upon both our external and in house scientific expertise, which will be essential to our 
drug development effort.

Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates, and Judgments 

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We continually evaluate our estimates and judgments used in preparing our financial 
statements and related disclosures, none of which are considered critical. All estimates affect reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, 
as well as disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates and judgments are also based on historical experience and other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Materially different results can occur as circumstances change and additional information becomes 
known.

There have been no significant changes to our critical accounting policies since March 31, 2023. For a description of critical accounting policies that affect 
our significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our condensed consolidated financial statements, refer to Item 7. “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Note 1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2023, filed with 
the SEC on July 14, 2023.

Results of Operations 

Comparison of the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands, except %):
 

    Three Months Ended              
    September 30,     Increase (decrease)  
   2023     2022     $     %  

Revenues   $ —     $ 77     $ (77 )     (100 %)
Research and development   $ 1,335     $ 1,231     $ 104       8 %
Selling, general and administrative   $ 2,780     $ 2,200     $ 580       26 %
Other income   $ 121     $ 33     $ 88       267 %
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Revenues

For the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, total revenue was zero and $0.1 million, respectively. 

Costs and Expenses 

Research and Development Expenses 

The following table summarizes our research and development expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands, except 
%):
 

   
Three Months 

Ended          
Three Months 

Ended           Increase (decrease)  

  
September 30, 

2023  
 

% of total  
 

September 30, 
2022  

 
% of total  

 
$  

 
%  

Research and development   $ 1,338       100 %  $ 1,066       87 %  $ 272       26 %
Non-cash stock-based compensation     (60 )     (4 %)    125       10 %    (185 )     (148 %)
Depreciation and amortization     57       4 %    40       3 %    17       43 %
Total research and development
   expenses   $ 1,335       100 %  $ 1,231       100 %  $ 104       8 %
 
For the three months ended September 30, 2023, total research and development expenses were $1.3 million, an increase of $0.1 million, or approximately 
8%, from the prior year period. The increase year over year directly relates to the increase in research and development activities. Our average full-time 
research and development staff increased from an average of fifteen full-time employees for the three months ended September 30, 2022 to an average of 
eighteen full-time employees for the three months ended September 30, 2023. Our fiscal 2024 operations resulted in a $0.1 million decrease in personnel 
related costs, which is related to forfeiture credits of share-based compensation expense due to the restructuring event, and lab expenses, offset by a $0.1 
million increase in consulting expenses, and a $0.1 million increase in facilities and depreciation expenses. Going forward, we intend to continue to 
increase research and development activities with an associated increase in expenses.
 
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 

The following table summarizes our selling, general and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands, 
except %):
 

   
Three Months 

Ended          
Three Months 

Ended           Increase (decrease)  

  
September 30, 

2023  
 

% of total  
 

September 30, 
2022  

  % of total     $     %  
Selling, general and administrative   $ 2,033       74 %  $ 1,637       74 %  $ 396       24 %
Non-cash stock-based compensation     734       26 %    548       25 %    186       34 %
Depreciation and amortization     13       0 %    15       1 %    (2 )     (13 %)
Total selling, general and
   administrative expenses   $ 2,780       100 %  $ 2,200       100 %  $ 580       26 %
 
For the three months ended September 30, 2023, total selling, general and administrative expenses were approximately $2.8 million, an increase of $0.6 
million, or approximately 26%, compared to the prior year period. The increase year over year relates to an increase in personnel and legal expenses. Our 
average full-time general and administrative staff remained at an average of five full-time employees for the three months ended September 30, 2023. Our 
fiscal 2024 operations resulted in a $0.4 million increase in personnel related costs, related to severance for the reduction in force in the second quarter of 
fiscal 2024. There was also a $0.2 million increase in legal and corporate expenses compared to the prior year period. 
 
Other Income

Other income was $0.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023, which was related to interest income. Other income was less than $0.1 
million for the three months ended September 30, 2022. 
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Comparison of the six months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 
 
The following table summarizes our results of operations for the six months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands, except %):
 

    Six Months Ended              
    September 30,     Increase (decrease)  
   2023     2022     $     %  

Revenues   $ 75     $ 77     $ (2 )     (3 %)
Research and development   $ 3,001     $ 2,251     $ 750       33 %
Selling, general and administrative   $ 5,384     $ 4,419     $ 965       22 %
Other income   $ 290     $ 59     $ 231       392 %
 
 
Revenues

For the six months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, total revenue was $0.1 million, respectively.

Costs and Expenses 

Research and Development Expenses 

The following table summarizes our research and development expenses for the six months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands, except %):
 

   
Six Months 

Ended          
Six Months 

Ended           Increase (decrease)  

  
September 30, 

2023  
 

% of total  
 

September 30, 
2022  

 
% of total  

 
$  

 
%  

Research and development   $ 2,843       94 %  $ 1,929       86 %  $ 914       47 %
Non-cash stock-based compensation     47       2 %    247       11 %    (200 )     (81 %)
Depreciation and amortization     111       4 %    75       3 %    36       48 %
Total research and
   development expenses   $ 3,001       100 %  $ 2,251       100 %  $ 750       33 %
 
 
For the six months ended September 30, 2023, total research and development expenses were $3.0 million, an increase of $0.7 million, or 33%, from the 
prior year period. Our average full-time research and development staff increased from an average of fourteen full-time employees for the six months ended 
September 30, 2022 to an average of eighteen full-time employees for the six months ended September 30, 2023. Our fiscal 2024 research and development 
activities resulted in a $0.3 million increase in personnel related costs, a $0.2 million increase in lab expenses, a $0.1 million increase in consulting 
expenses, and a $0.1 million increase in facility costs. Going forward, we intend to continue to increase research and development activities with an 
associated increase in expenses.
 
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 
 
The following table summarizes our selling, general and administrative expenses for the six months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands, 
except %):
 

   
Six Months 

Ended          
Six Months 

Ended           Increase (decrease)  

  
September 30, 

2023  
 

% of total  
 

September 30, 
2022  

 
% of total  

 
$  

 
%  

Selling, general and administrative   $ 4,255       79 %  $ 3,303       74 %  $ 952       29 %
Non-cash stock-based compensation     1,103       20 %    1,087       25 %    16       1 %
Depreciation and amortization     26       1 %    29       1 %    (3 )     (10 %)
Total selling, general and
   administrative expenses   $ 5,384       100 %  $ 4,419       100 %  $ 965       22 %
 
For the six months ended September 30, 2023, total selling, general and administrative expenses were approximately $5.4 million, an increase of $1.0 
million, or approximately 22%, compared to the prior year period. The increase year over year relates to increases in personnel related costs and legal and 
other corporate expenses. Our average full-time general and administrative staff remained at an average of five full-time employees for the six months 
ended September 30, 2023. Our fiscal 2024 operations resulted in a $0.3 
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million increase in personnel related costs, related to severance for the reduction in force in the second quarter of fiscal 2024. There was also a $0.1 million 
increase in consulting costs, and a $0.6 million increase in legal and other corporate expenses. 
 
Other Income
 
Other income was $0.3 million and $0.1 million for the six months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Other income in both periods 
consisted of interest income. 

Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Going forward, we intend to leverage our proprietary technology platform to develop therapeutic drugs. Our initial plan is to focus on IBD, including CD 
and UC, with a goal of broadening our work into additional therapeutic areas over time.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis that we are a going concern, which contemplates, among other things, 
the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. At September 30, 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents of 
approximately $7.6 million, restricted cash of approximately $0.1 million and an accumulated deficit of approximately $333.0 million. The restricted cash 
was pledged as collateral for a letter of credit that the Company is required to maintain as a security deposit under the terms of the lease agreement for its 
facilities. We had negative cash flow from operations of approximately $8.5 million during the six months ended September 30, 2023. At March 31, 2023, 
we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $15.3 million, restricted cash of approximately $0.1 million and an accumulated deficit of 
approximately $325.0 million.

At September 30, 2023, we had total current assets of approximately $8.3 million and current liabilities of approximately $1.6 million, resulting in working 
capital of $6.7 million. At March 31, 2023, we had total current assets of approximately $17.0 million and current liabilities of approximately $3.7 million, 
resulting in working capital of $13.3 million. 

The following table summarizes the primary sources and uses of cash for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):
 

  Six Months Ended  
  September 30,  
 2023   2022  

Net cash (used in) provided by:        
Operating activities $ (8,460 ) $ (4,631 )
Investing activities   776     (10,779 )
Financing activities   —     —  

Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ (7,684 ) $ (15,410 )
 
Operating activities

Net cash used in operating activities for the six months ended September 30, 2023 was approximately $8.5 million as compared to $4.6 million used in 
operating activities for the six months ended September 30, 2022. This $3.9 million increase in operating cash usage can be attributed primarily to the 
increase in research and development activities. Operating cash usage includes $2.0 million of cash outflows for acquired in-process research and 
development of Metacrine's FXR drug compound, related research data, and IP. 

Investing activities

Net cash provided by investing activities was $0.8 million for the six months ended September 30, 2023. Investing activities consisted of the purchases of 
investments of $7.9 million, the maturities of investments of $8.0 million, the liquidation of equity securities of $0.7 million, and fixed asset purchases of 
less than $0.1 million. Net cash used in investing activities was $10.8 million for the six months ended September 30, 2022, consisting primarily of 
purchases of investments and purchases of equity securities.  

Financing activities

There were no cash financing activities during the six months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022. 
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Operations funding requirements

Through September 30, 2023, we have financed our operations primarily through the sale of common stock through public and ATM offerings, the private 
placement of equity securities, from revenue derived from the licensing of intellectual property, products and research-based services, grants, and 
collaborative research agreements, and from the sale of convertible notes.

Our ongoing cash requirements include research and development expenses, compensation for personnel, consulting fees, legal and accounting support, 
insurance premiums, facilities, maintenance of our intellectual property portfolio, license and collaboration agreements, listing on the Nasdaq Capital 
Market, and other miscellaneous fees to support our operations. We expect our total operating expense for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2024 to be 
between $12.0 million and $14.0 million. Based on our current operating plan and available cash resources, we will need substantial additional funding to 
support future operating activities. We have concluded that the prevailing conditions and ongoing liquidity risks faced by us raise substantial doubt about 
our ability to continue as a going concern for at least one year following the date these financial statements are issued. The accompanying consolidated 
financial statements do not include any adjustments that might be necessary should we be unable to continue as a going concern.
 
We previously had an effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-222929) (the “2018 Shelf”) that registered $100.0 million of 
common stock, preferred stock, warrants and units, or any combination of the foregoing and expired on February 22, 2021. On January 19, 2021, we filed a 
shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-252224) to register $150.0 million of common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants and 
units, or any combination of the foregoing (the “2021 Shelf”). The 2021 Shelf registration statement was declared effective by the SEC on January 29, 2021 
and replaced the 2018 Shelf at that time.
 
On March 16, 2018, we entered into a Sales Agreement (“Sales Agreement”) with H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC and Jones Trading Institutional Services 
LLC (each an “Agent” and together, the “Agents”). On January 29, 2021, we filed a prospectus supplement to the 2021 Shelf (the “ATM Prospectus 
Supplement”), pursuant to which we could offer and sell, from time to time, through the Agents, shares of our common stock in ATM sales transactions 
having an aggregate offering price of up to $50.0 million. Any shares offered and sold are issued pursuant to our 2021 Shelf.
 
During the six months ended September  30, 2023, we sold no shares of common stock in ATM offerings. As of September 30, 2023, we have sold an 
aggregate of 1,580,862 shares of common stock in ATM offerings under the ATM Prospectus Supplement, for gross proceeds of approximately $21.7 
million. As of September 30, 2023, there was approximately $100.0 million available in future offerings under the 2021 Shelf (excluding amounts available 
but not yet issued under the ATM Prospectus Supplement), and approximately $28.3 million available for future offerings through our ATM program under 
the ATM Prospectus Supplement.

Having insufficient funds may require us to relinquish rights to our technology on less favorable terms than we would otherwise choose. Failure to obtain 
adequate financing could eventually adversely affect our ability to operate as a going concern. If we raise additional funds from the issuance of equity 
securities, substantial dilution to our existing stockholders would likely result. If we raise additional funds by incurring debt financing, the terms of the debt 
may involve significant cash payment obligations as well as covenants and specific financial ratios that may restrict our ability to operate our business. We 
cannot be sure that additional financing will be available if and when needed, or that, if available, we can obtain financing on terms favorable to our 
stockholders. Any failure to obtain financing when required will have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition and 
ability to continue as a going concern.

As of September 30, 2023, we had 8,719,453 total issued and outstanding shares of common stock.

On October 12, 2022, our stockholders and the Board of Directors ("Board") approved the 2022 Equity Incentive Plan ("2022 Plan"), and it became 
effective on that date. The 2022 Plan replaced the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan ("2012 Plan") on the effective date. Upon the effective date, we ceased 
granting awards under the 2012 Plan and any shares remaining available for future issuance under the 2012 Plan were cancelled and are no longer available 
for future issuance. The 2012 Plan continues to govern awards previously granted under it. At the time the Board approved the 2022 Plan, an aggregate of 
1,363,000 shares of our common stock was initially reserved for issuance under the 2022 Plan. We committed to reducing the new 2022 Plan share reserve 
by the number of shares that were granted under the 2012 Plan and the Inducement Plan between July 25, 2022 and October 12, 2022. From July 25, 2022 
to October 12, 2022, we issued 126,262 shares of common stock under the 2012 Plan. As a result, the number of shares initially reserved for future issuance 
under the 2022 Plan was 1,236,738 shares of common stock as of October 12, 2022. We also committed to reducing the aggregate number of shares of 
common stock issuable pursuant to the 2021 Inducement Equity Incentive Plan ("Inducement Plan") from 750,000 shares to 51,000 shares (which includes 
50,000 shares of its common stock issuable pursuant to an outstanding option to purchase common stock with an exercise price of $2.75 per share, leaving 
only 1,000 shares available for future issuance under the Inducement Plan) and the share reserve was reduced effective October 12, 2022.

The 2022 Plan provides for the issuance of up to 1,236,738 shares of our common stock. During the six months ended September 30, 2023, 732,360 stock 
options were forfeited and as a result were added to the pool of shares available for issuance under the 2022 Plan. Therefore, under the 2022 Plan, 
1,672,574 shares remain available for issuance as of September 30, 2023, to executive officers, 
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directors, advisory board members, employees and consultants. The 2012 Plan, as amended, provides for the issuance of up to 2,327,699 shares of our 
common stock, of which no shares remain available for issuance as of September 30, 2023. Additionally, 75,000 shares of common stock have been 
reserved for issuance under the 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), of which 58,426 shares remain available for future issuance as of 
September 30, 2023. Finally, 51,000 shares of common stock have been reserved for issuances under our Inducement Plan, of which 1,000 remain available 
for future issuance as of September 30, 2023. In aggregate, issued and outstanding common stock and shares issuable under outstanding equity awards or 
reserved for future issuance under the 2022 Plan, the 2012 Plan, the Inducement Plan, and the ESPP total 11,426,709 shares of common stock as of 
September 30, 2023.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements, including unrecorded derivative instruments that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future 
material effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or 
capital resources. We have certain options outstanding but we do not expect to receive sufficient proceeds from the exercise of these instruments unless and 
until the underlying securities are registered, and/or all restrictions on trading, if any, are removed, and in either case the trading price of our common stock 
is significantly greater than the applicable exercise prices of the options and warrants. 
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

We are a smaller reporting company, as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and  this is not required for smaller 
reporting companies under Item 305(e) of Regulation S-K.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed pursuant to the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in 
the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and 
principal financial and accounting officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure 
controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, our 
principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the quarterly period covered 
by this report were designed and operating effectively. 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) that occurred during the fiscal 
quarter to which this report relates that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls 

Our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, do not expect that our disclosure controls or our internal 
control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only 
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. The design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are 
resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Further, because of the inherent limitations in all control 
systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and 
instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that 
breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or 
more people, or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood 
of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Projections of 
any evaluation of controls effectiveness to future periods are subject to risks. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions 
or deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies or procedures. 
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

See Note 7 of the Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements within this Form 10-Q for a discussion of our legal proceedings 
and contingencies. 

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS 

Investment in our common stock involves a substantial degree of risk and should be regarded as speculative. As a result, the purchase of our common stock 
should be considered only by persons who can reasonably afford to lose their entire investment. Before you elect to purchase our common stock, you should 
carefully consider the risk and uncertainties described below in addition to the other information incorporated herein by reference. Additional risks and 
uncertainties of which we are unaware or which we currently believe are immaterial could also materially adversely affect our business, financial condition 
or results of operations. If any of the risks or uncertainties discussed in this Quarterly Report occur, our business, prospects, liquidity, financial condition 
and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected, in which case the trading price of our common stock could decline, and you could lose 
all or part of your investment.

Risk factors marked with an asterisk (*) below include a substantive change from or an update to the risk factors included in our Annual Report on Form 
10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on July 14, 2023. 

Risk Factor Summary 

Below is a summary of the principal factors that make an investment in our common stock speculative or risky. This summary does not address all of the 
risks that we face. Additional discussion of the risks summarized in this risk factor summary, and other risks that we face, can be found below and should 
be carefully considered, together with other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our other filings with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission before making investment decisions regarding our common stock.

• We will incur substantial additional operating losses over the next several years as our research and development activities increase.

• Using our platform technology to develop human tissues and disease models for drug discovery and development is new and unproven.

• As we pursue drug development through 3D tissues and disease models, we will require access to a constant, steady, reliable supply of 
human cells to support our development activities.

• We may require substantial additional funding. Raising additional capital would cause dilution to our existing stockholders and may 
restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our technologies or to a product candidate.

• Clinical drug development involves a lengthy and expensive process with uncertain timelines and uncertain outcomes, and results of 
earlier studies and trials may not be predictive of future results. 

• The near and long-term viability of our drug discovery and development efforts will depend on our ability to successfully establish 
strategic relationships.

• Current and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost of commercializing our drug candidates and may affect the prices we 
may obtain if our drug candidates are approved for commercialization.

• Management has performed an analysis and concluded that substantial doubt exists about our ability to continue as a going concern. 

• Additional funds may not be available when we need them on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. If adequate funds are not available 
to us on a timely basis, we may be required to curtail or cease our operations.

• We have a history of operating losses and expect to incur significant additional operating losses.

• There is no assurance that an active market in our common stock will continue at present levels or increase in the future.

• The price of our common stock may continue to be volatile, which could lead to losses by investors and costly securities litigation.
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• Patents covering our products could be found invalid or unenforceable if challenged in court or before administrative bodies in the 

United States or abroad.

• We may be involved in lawsuits or other proceedings to protect or enforce our patents or the patents of our licensors, which could be 
expensive, time-consuming and unsuccessful.

 
Risks Related to our Business 

We are a biotechnology company focusing on 3D bioprinting technology to develop human tissues and disease models for drug discovery and 
development, which is an unproven business strategy that may never achieve profitability.

We are focusing our efforts on utilizing our 3D bioprinting technology to develop human tissues and disease models for drug discovery and development. 
Our success will depend upon the viability of our platform technology and any disease models we develop, as well as on our ability to determine which 
drug candidates we should pursue. Our success will also depend on our ability to select an appropriate development strategy for any drug candidates we 
identify, including internal development or partnering or licensing arrangements with pharmaceutical companies. We may not be able to partner or license 
our drug candidates. We may never achieve profitability, or even if we achieve profitability, we may not be able to maintain or increase our profitability.

We will incur substantial additional operating losses over the next several years as our research and development activities increase.

We will incur substantial additional operating losses over the next several years as our research and development activities increase. The amount of future 
losses and when, if ever, we will achieve profitability are uncertain. Our ability to generate revenue and achieve profitability will depend on, among other 
things:

• successfully developing human tissues and disease models for drug discovery and development that enable us to identify drug candidates;

• successfully outsourcing certain portions of our development efforts;

• entering into partnering or licensing arrangements with pharmaceutical companies to further develop and conduct clinical trials for any drug 
candidates we identify;

• obtaining any necessary regulatory approval for any drug candidates we identify; and

• raising sufficient funds to finance our activities and long-term business plan.
 
We might not succeed at any of these undertakings. If we are unsuccessful at one or more of these undertakings, our business, prospects, and results of 
operations will be materially adversely affected. 
 
Using our platform technology to develop human tissues and disease models for drug discovery and development is new and unproven.

Utilizing our 3D bioprinting platform technology to develop human tissues and disease models for drug discovery and development will involve new and 
unproven technologies, disease models and approaches, each of which is subject to the risk associated with new and evolving technologies. To date, we 
have not identified or developed any drug candidates utilizing our new business model. Our future success will depend on our ability to utilize our 3D 
bioprinting platform to develop human tissues and disease models that will enable us to identify and develop viable drug candidates. We may experience 
unforeseen technical complications, unrecognized defects and limitations in our technology or our ability to develop disease models or identify viable drug 
candidates. These complications could materially delay or substantially increase the anticipated costs and time to identify and develop viable drug 
candidates, which would have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition and our ability to continue operations.

We will face intense competition in our drug discovery efforts. 

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industry is subject to intense competition and rapid and significant technological change. There are many potential 
competitors for the disease indications we may pursue, including major drug companies, specialized biotechnology firms, academic institutions, 
government agencies and private and public research institutions. Many of these competitors have significantly greater financial and technical resources, 
experience and expertise in the following areas than we have, including:
 

• research and technology development;

• development of or access to disease models;

• identification and development of drug candidates;
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• regulatory processes and approvals; and

• identifying and entering into agreements with potential collaborators.
 
Principal competitive factors in our industry include: the quality, scientific and technical support, management and the execution of drug development and 
regulatory approval strategies; skill and experience of employees, including the ability to recruit and retain skilled, experienced employees; intellectual 
property portfolio; range of capabilities, including drug identification, development and regulatory approval; and the availability of substantial capital 
resources to fund these activities.

In order to effectively compete, we may need to make substantial investments in our research and technology development, drug candidate identification 
and development, testing and regulatory approval and licensing and business development activities. There is no assurance that we will be successful in 
discovering effective drug candidates using our 3D bioprinted tissues or disease models. Our technologies and drug development plans also may be 
rendered obsolete or noncompetitive as a result of drugs, intellectual property, technologies, products and services introduced by competitors. Any of these 
risks may prevent us from building a successful drug discovery business or entering into a strategic partnership or collaboration related to, any drug 
candidates we identify on favorable terms, or at all. 

As we pursue drug development through 3D tissues and disease models, we will require access to a constant, steady, reliable supply of human cells to 
support our development activities.

As we pursue drug development through 3D tissues and disease models, we will require access to a constant, steady, reliable supply of human cells to 
support our 3D tissue development activities. We purchase human cells from selected third-party suppliers based on quality assurance, cost effectiveness, 
and regulatory requirements. We need to continue to identify additional sources of qualified human cells and there can be no guarantee that we will be able 
to access the quantity and quality of raw materials needed at a cost-effective price. Any failure to obtain a reliable supply of sufficient human cells or a 
supply at cost effective prices would harm our business and our results of operations and could cause us to be unable to support our drug development 
efforts.

Our business will be adversely impacted if we are unable to successfully attract, hire and integrate key additional employees or contractors.

Our future success depends in part on our ability to successfully attract and then retain key additional executive officers and other key employees and 
contractors to support our drug discovery plans. Recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and clinical personnel is critical to our success. Competition to 
hire qualified personnel in our industry is intense, and we may be unable to hire, train, retain or motivate these key personnel on acceptable terms given the 
competition among numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for similar personnel. If we are unable to attract and retain high quality 
personnel, our ability to pursue our drug discovery business will be limited, and our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations may 
be adversely affected.

*We may require substantial additional funding. Raising additional capital would cause dilution to our existing stockholders and may restrict our 
operations or require us to relinquish rights to our technologies or to a product candidate.

We currently do not have any committed external source of funds and do not expect to generate any meaningful revenue in the foreseeable future. If our 
board of directors decides that we should pursue further research and development activities than already proposed, we will require substantial additional 
funding to operate our proposed business, including expanding our facilities and hiring additional qualified personnel, and we would expect to finance these 
cash needs through a combination of equity offerings, debt financings, government or other third-party funding and licensing or collaboration 
arrangements. 
 
To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt, the ownership interests of our stockholders will be diluted. In 
addition, the terms of any equity or convertible debt we agree to issue may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of our 
stockholders. Convertible debt financing, if available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific 
actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures, and declaring dividends, and may impose limitations on our ability to acquire, sell 
or license intellectual property rights and other operating restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. Moreover, we have the 
ability to sell up to $28.3 million of additional shares of our common stock to the public through an “at the market” offering pursuant to a Sales Agreement 
that we entered into with H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC and Jones Trading Institutional Services LLC on March 16, 2018 (the "Sales Agreement"). Any 
shares of common stock issued in the at-the-market offering will result in dilution to our existing stockholders.

We currently have an effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), which we may 
use to offer from time to time any combination of debt securities, common and preferred stock and warrants. On March 16, 2018, we entered into the Sales 
Agreement pursuant to which we have the ability to sell up to $28.3 million of additional shares of our common stock to the public through an “at the 
market” offering. In the event that the aggregate market value 
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of our common stock held by non-affiliates (“public float”) is less than $75.0 million, the amount we can raise through primary public offerings of 
securities, including sales under the Sales Agreement, in any twelve-month period using shelf registration statements is limited to an aggregate of one-third 
of our public float. As of August 1, 2023, our public float was less than $75.0 million, and therefore we are limited to an aggregate of one-third of our 
public float in the amount we could raise through primary public offerings of securities in any twelve-month period using shelf registration statements. 
Although we would still maintain the ability to raise funds through other means, such as through the filing of a registration statement on Form S-1 or in 
private placements, the rules and regulations of the SEC or any other regulatory agencies may restrict our ability to conduct certain types of financing 
activities, or may affect the timing of and amounts we can raise by undertaking such activities.

Further, additional funds may not be available when we need them on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. If adequate funds are not available to us on a 
timely basis, we may be required to curtail or cease our operations. Raising additional funding through debt or equity financing is likely to be difficult or 
unavailable altogether given the early stage of our technology and any drug candidates we identify. Furthermore, the issuance of additional securities, 
whether equity or debt, by us, or the possibility of such issuance, may cause the market price of our common stock to decline further and existing 
stockholders may not agree with our financing plans or the terms of such financings. 

*Clinical drug development involves a lengthy and expensive process with uncertain timelines and uncertain outcomes, and results of earlier studies 
and trials may not be predictive of future results. 

Before obtaining marketing approval from regulatory authorities for the sale of any drug candidates we identify, any such drug candidates must undergo 
extensive clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of the drug candidates in humans. Human clinical testing is expensive and can take many 
years to complete, and we cannot be certain that any clinical trials will be conducted as planned or completed on schedule, if at all. We may elect to 
complete this testing, or some portion thereof, internally or enter into a partnering or development agreement with a pharmaceutical company to complete 
these trials. Our inability, or the inability of any third party with whom we enter into a partnering or development agreement, to successfully complete 
preclinical and clinical development could result in additional costs to us and negatively impact our ability to generate revenues or receive development or 
milestone payments. Our future success is dependent on our ability, or the ability of any pharmaceutical company with whom we enter into a partnering or 
development agreement, to successfully develop, obtain regulatory approval for, and then successfully commercialize any drug candidates we identify. 

Any drug candidates we identify will require additional clinical development, management of clinical, preclinical and manufacturing activities, regulatory 
approval in applicable jurisdictions, achieving and maintaining commercial-scale supply, building of a commercial organization, substantial investment and 
significant marketing efforts. We are not permitted to market or promote any of our drug candidates before we receive regulatory approval from the U.S. 
Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) or comparable foreign regulatory authorities, and we may never receive such regulatory approval for any of our 
drug candidates. 
 
We, or any third party with whom we enter into a partnering or development agreement, may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result 
of, clinical trials that could delay or prevent our ability to earn development or milestone payments or for any drug candidates to obtain regulatory approval, 
including:
 

• delays in or failure to reach agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract research organizations (“CROs”) and clinical sites, the 
terms of which can be subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and trial sites;

• failure to obtain sufficient enrollment in clinical trials or participants may fail to complete clinical trials;

• clinical trials of our drug candidates that may produce negative or inconclusive results, and as a result we, or any pharmaceutical company 
with who we enter into a partnering or development agreement, may decide, or regulators may require, additional clinical trials;

• suspension or termination of clinical research, either by us, any third party with whom we enter into a partnering or development agreement, 
regulators or institutional review boards, for various reasons, including noncompliance with regulatory requirements or a finding that the 
participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks;

• additional or unanticipated clinical trials required by regulators or institutional review boards to obtain approval or any drug candidates may 
be subject to additional post-marketing testing requirements to maintain regulatory approval;

• regulators may revise the requirements for approving any drug candidates, or such requirements may not be as anticipated;

• the cost of clinical trials for any drug candidates may be greater than anticipated;
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• the supply or quality of any drug candidates or other materials necessary to conduct clinical trials of our drug candidates may be insufficient 

or inadequate or may be delayed; and

• regulatory authorities may suspend or withdraw their approval of a product or impose restrictions on its distribution;

If we, or any third party with whom we enter into a partnering or development agreement, experience delays in the completion of, or termination of, any 
clinical trial of any drug candidates that we develop, or are unable to achieve clinical endpoints due to unforeseen events, the commercial prospects of our 
drug candidates will be harmed, and our ability to develop milestones, development fees or product revenues from any of these drug candidates will be 
delayed.

We will rely upon third-party contractors and service providers for the execution of critical aspects of any future development programs. Failure of 
these collaborators to provide services of a suitable quality and within acceptable timeframes may cause the delay or failure of any future development 
programs.

We plan to outsource certain functions, tests and services to CROs, medical institutions and collaborators as well as outsource manufacturing to 
collaborators and/or contract manufacturers, and we will rely on third parties for quality assurance, clinical monitoring, clinical data management and 
regulatory expertise. We may elect, in the future, to engage a CRO to run all aspects of a clinical trial on our behalf. There is no assurance that such 
individuals or organizations will be able to provide the functions, tests, biologic supply or services as agreed upon or in a quality fashion and we could 
suffer significant delays in the development of our drug candidates or development programs.

In some cases, there may be only one or few providers of such services, including clinical data management or manufacturing services. In addition, the cost 
of such services could be significantly increased over time. We may rely on third parties and collaborators to enroll qualified patients and conduct, 
supervise and monitor our clinical trials. Our reliance on these third parties and collaborators for clinical development activities reduces our control over 
these activities. Our reliance on these parties, however, does not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities, including ensuring that our clinical trials are 
conducted in accordance with Good Clinical Practice (“GCP”) regulations and the investigational plan and protocols contained in the regulatory agency 
applications. In addition, these third parties may not complete activities on schedule or may not manufacture under Current Good Manufacturing Practice 
(“cGMP”) conditions. Preclinical or clinical studies may not be performed or completed in accordance with Good Laboratory Practices (“GLP”) regulatory 
requirements or our trial design. If these third parties or collaborators do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or meet expected deadlines, 
obtaining regulatory approval for manufacturing and commercialization of our drug candidates may be delayed or prevented. We may rely substantially on 
third-party data managers for our clinical trial data. There is no assurance that these third parties will not make errors in the design, management or 
retention of our data or data systems. There is no assurance these third parties will pass FDA or regulatory audits, which could delay or prohibit regulatory 
approval.

In addition, we will exercise limited control over our third-party partners and vendors, which makes us vulnerable to any errors, interruptions or delays in 
their operations. If these third parties experience any service disruptions, financial distress or other business disruption, or difficulties meeting our 
requirements or standards, it could make it difficult for us to operate some aspects of our business.

The near and long-term viability of our drug discovery and development efforts will depend on our ability to successfully establish strategic 
relationships.

The near and long-term viability of our drug discovery and development efforts depend in part on our ability to successfully establish new strategic 
partnering, collaboration and licensing arrangements with biotechnology companies, pharmaceutical companies, universities, hospitals, insurance 
companies and or government agencies. Establishing strategic relationships is difficult and time-consuming. Potential partners and collaborators may not 
enter into relationships with us based upon their assessment of our technology or drug candidates or our financial, regulatory or intellectual property 
position. If we fail to establish a sufficient number of strategic relationships on acceptable terms, we may not be able to develop and obtain regulatory 
approval for our drug candidates or generate sufficient revenue to fund further research and development efforts. Even if we establish new strategic 
relationships, these relationships may never result in the successful development or regulatory approval for any drug candidates we identify for a number of 
reasons both within and outside of our control.

Investors’ expectations of our performance relating to environmental, social and governance factors may impose additional costs and expose us to new 
risks.

There is an increasing focus from certain investors, employees, regulators and other stakeholders concerning corporate responsibility, specifically related to 
environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) factors. Some investors and investor advocacy groups may use these factors to guide investment strategies 
and, in some cases, investors may choose not to invest in our company if they believe our policies relating to corporate responsibility are inadequate. Third-
party providers of corporate responsibility ratings and reports on 
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companies have increased to meet growing investor demand for measurement of corporate responsibility performance, and a variety of organizations 
currently measure the performance of companies on such ESG topics, and the results of these assessments are widely publicized. Investors, particularly 
institutional investors, use these ratings to benchmark companies against their peers and if we are perceived as lagging with respect to ESG initiatives, 
certain investors may engage with us to improve ESG disclosures or performance and may also make voting decisions, or take other actions, to hold us and 
our board of directors accountable. In addition, the criteria by which our corporate responsibility practices are assessed may change, which could result in 
greater expectations of us and cause us to undertake costly initiatives to satisfy such new criteria. If we elect not to or are unable to satisfy such new 
criteria, investors may conclude that our policies with respect to corporate responsibility are inadequate. We may face reputational damage in the event that 
our corporate responsibility procedures or standards do not meet the standards set by various constituencies.
 
We may face reputational damage in the event our corporate responsibility initiatives or objectives do not meet the standards set by our investors, 
stockholders, lawmakers, listing exchanges or other constituencies, or if we are unable to achieve an acceptable ESG or sustainability rating from third-
party rating services. A low ESG or sustainability rating by a third-party rating service could also result in the exclusion of our common stock from 
consideration by certain investors who may elect to invest with our competition instead. Ongoing focus on corporate responsibility matters by investors and 
other parties as described above may impose additional costs or expose us to new risks. Any failure or perceived failure by us in this regard could have a 
material adverse effect on our reputation and on our business, share price, financial condition, or results of operations, including the sustainability of our 
business over time.

*Unstable market and economic conditions may have serious adverse consequences on our business, financial condition and share price.

Our business, financial condition and share price could be adversely affected by general conditions in the global economy and in the global financial 
markets. As widely reported, in the past several years, global credit and financial markets have experienced volatility and disruptions, and especially in 
2020, 2021 and 2022 due to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, and, more recently, the ongoing conflict between Ukraine and Russia and the global 
impact of restrictions and sanctions imposed on Russia, including, for example, severely diminished liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer 
confidence, declines in economic growth, increases in unemployment rates and uncertainty about economic stability. Moreover, the global impacts of the 
Israel-Hamas war are still unknown. There can be no assurances that further deterioration in credit and financial markets and confidence in economic 
conditions will not occur. For example, U.S. debt ceiling and budget deficit concerns have increased the possibility of additional credit-rating downgrades 
and economic slowdowns, or a recession in the United States. Although U.S. lawmakers passed legislation to raise the federal debt ceiling on multiple 
occasions, including a suspension of the federal debt ceiling in June 2023, ratings agencies have lowered or threatened to lower the long-term sovereign 
credit rating on the United States. The impact of this or any further downgrades to the U.S. government’s sovereign credit rating or its perceived 
creditworthiness could adversely affect the U.S. and global financial markets and economic conditions. Absent further quantitative easing by the Federal 
Reserve, these developments could cause interest rates and borrowing costs to rise, which may negatively impact our results of operations or financial 
condition.

Our general business strategy may be adversely affected by any such economic downturn, volatile business environment or continued unpredictable and 
unstable market conditions. If the current equity and credit markets deteriorate, it may make any necessary debt or equity financing more difficult, more 
costly and more dilutive. Failure to secure any necessary financing in a timely manner and on favorable terms could have a material adverse effect on our 
growth strategy, financial performance and share price and could require us to delay or abandon clinical development plans. Any of the foregoing could 
harm our business and we cannot anticipate all of the ways in which the current economic climate and financial market conditions could adversely impact 
our business.

*The impact of the Russian invasion of Ukraine and the Israel-Hamas War on the global economy, energy supplies and raw materials is uncertain, but 
may prove to negatively impact our business and operations.

The short and long-term implications of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine and the Israel-Hamas war are difficult to predict at this time. We continue to monitor 
any adverse impact that the outbreak of war in Ukraine and the subsequent institution of sanctions against Russia by the United States and several European 
and Asian countries and the Israel-Hamas war may have on the global economy in general, on our business and operations and on the businesses and 
operations of our suppliers and other third parties with which we conduct business. For example, prolonged conflict in Ukraine or Israel has resulted and 
may result, respectively, in increased inflation, escalating energy prices and constrained availability, and thus increasing costs, of raw materials. We will 
continue to monitor this fluid situation and develop contingency plans as necessary to address any disruptions to our business operations as they develop. 
To the extent the war in Ukraine or Israel may adversely affect our business as discussed above, it may also have the effect of heightening many of the other 
risks described herein. Such risks include, but are not limited to, adverse effects on macroeconomic conditions, including inflation; disruptions to our 
technology infrastructure, including through cyberattack, ransom attack, or cyber-intrusion; adverse changes in international trade policies and relations; 
disruptions in global supply chains; and constraints, volatility, or disruption in the capital markets, any of which could negatively affect our business and 
financial condition.
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Risks Related to Government Regulation
 
 

In the past, we have used hazardous chemicals, biological materials and infectious agents in our business. Any claims relating to improper handling, 
storage or disposal of these materials could be time consuming and costly.
 

Our product manufacturing, research and development, and testing activities have involved the controlled use of hazardous materials, including chemicals, 
biological materials and infectious disease agents. We cannot eliminate the risks of accidental contamination or the accidental spread or discharge of these 
materials, or any resulting injury from such an event. We may be sued for any injury or contamination that results from our use or the use by third parties of 
these materials, and our liability may exceed our insurance coverage and our total assets. Federal, state and local laws and regulations govern the use, 
manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of these hazardous materials and specified waste products, as well as the discharge of pollutants into the 
environment and human health and safety matters. We were also subject to various laws and regulations relating to safe working conditions, laboratory and 
manufacturing practices, and the experimental use of animals. Our operations may have required that environmental permits and approvals be issued by 
applicable government agencies. If we failed to comply with these requirements, we could incur substantial costs, including civil or criminal fines and 
penalties, clean-up costs or capital expenditures for control equipment or operational changes necessary to achieve and maintain compliance.
 
If we fail to obtain and sustain an adequate level of reimbursement for our potential products by third-party payors, potential future sales would be 
materially adversely affected.

There will be no viable commercial market for our drug candidates, if approved, without reimbursement from third-party payors. Reimbursement policies 
may be affected by future healthcare reform measures. We cannot be certain that reimbursement will be available for our current drug candidates or any 
other drug candidate we may develop. Additionally, even if there is a viable commercial market, if the level of reimbursement is below our expectations, 
our anticipated revenue and gross margins will be adversely affected.

Third-party payors, such as government or private healthcare insurers, carefully review and increasingly question and challenge the coverage of and the 
prices charged for drugs. Reimbursement rates from private health insurance companies vary depending on the Company, the insurance plan and other 
factors. Reimbursement rates may be based on reimbursement levels already set for lower cost drugs and may be incorporated into existing payments for 
other services. There is a current trend in the U.S. healthcare industry toward cost containment.

Large public and private payors, managed care organizations, group purchasing organizations and similar organizations are exerting increasing influence on 
decisions regarding the use of, and reimbursement levels for, particular treatments. Such third-party payors, including Medicare, may question the coverage 
of, and challenge the prices charged for, medical products and services, and many third-party payors limit coverage of or reimbursement for newly 
approved healthcare products. In particular, third-party payors may limit the covered indications. Cost-control initiatives could decrease the price we might 
establish for products, which could result in product revenues being lower than anticipated. We believe our drugs will be priced significantly higher than 
existing generic drugs and consistent with current branded drugs. If we are unable to show a significant benefit relative to existing generic drugs, Medicare, 
Medicaid and private payors may not be willing to provide reimbursement for our drugs, which would significantly reduce the likelihood of our products 
gaining market acceptance.

We expect that private insurers will consider the efficacy, cost-effectiveness, safety and tolerability of our potential products in determining whether to 
approve reimbursement for such products and at what level. Obtaining these approvals can be a time consuming and expensive process. Our business, 
financial condition and results of operations would be materially adversely affected if we do not receive approval for reimbursement of our potential 
products from private insurers on a timely or satisfactory basis. Limitations on coverage could also be imposed at the local Medicare carrier level or by 
fiscal intermediaries. Medicare Part D, which provides a pharmacy benefit to Medicare patients as discussed below, does not require participating 
prescription drug plans to cover all drugs within a class of products. Our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially 
adversely affected if Part D prescription drug plans were to limit access to, or deny or limit reimbursement of, our drug candidates or other potential 
products.

Reimbursement systems in international markets vary significantly by country and by region, and reimbursement approvals must be obtained on a country-
by-country basis. In many countries, the product cannot be commercially launched until reimbursement is approved. In some foreign markets, prescription 
pharmaceutical pricing remains subject to continuing governmental control even after initial approval is granted. The negotiation process in some countries 
can exceed 12 months. To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval in some countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical trial that compares the 
cost-effectiveness of our products to other available therapies.
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If the prices for our potential products are reduced or if governmental and other third-party payors do not provide adequate coverage and reimbursement of 
our drugs, our future revenue, cash flows and prospects for profitability will suffer.

Current and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost of commercializing our drug candidates and may affect the prices we may obtain if 
our drug candidates are approved for commercialization.

In the U.S. and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of adopted and proposed legislative and regulatory changes regarding the healthcare 
system that could prevent or delay regulatory approval of our drug candidates, restrict or regulate post-marketing activities and affect our ability to 
profitably sell any of our drug candidates for which we obtain regulatory approval.
In the U.S., the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003 (“MMA”) changed the way Medicare covers and pays for 
pharmaceutical products. Cost reduction initiatives and other provisions of this legislation could limit the coverage and reimbursement rate that we receive 
for any of our approved products. While the MMA only applies to drug benefits for Medicare beneficiaries, private payors often follow Medicare coverage 
policy and payment limitations in setting their own reimbursement rates. Therefore, any reduction in reimbursement that results from the MMA may result 
in a similar reduction in payments from private payors.

In addition, on August 16, 2022, President Biden signed into law the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, which, among other things, includes policies that are 
designed to have a direct impact on drug prices and reduce drug spending by the federal government, which shall take effect in 2023. Under the Inflation 
Reduction Act of 2022, Congress authorized Medicare beginning in 2026 to negotiate lower prices for certain costly single-source drug and biologic 
products that do not have competing generics or biosimilars. This provision is limited in terms of the number of pharmaceuticals whose prices can be 
negotiated in any given year and it only applies to drug products that have been approved for at least 9 years and biologics that have been licensed for 13 
years. Drugs and biologics that have been approved for a single rare disease or condition are categorically excluded from price negotiation. Further, the new 
legislation provides that if pharmaceutical companies raise prices in Medicare faster than the rate of inflation, they must pay rebates back to the government 
for the difference. The new law also caps Medicare out-of-pocket drug costs at an estimated $4,000 a year in 2024 and, thereafter beginning in 2025, at 
$2,000 a year.
 
In March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (collectively the 
“PPACA”), was enacted. The PPACA was intended to broaden access to health insurance, reduce or constrain the growth of healthcare spending, enhance 
remedies against healthcare fraud and abuse, add new transparency requirements for healthcare and health insurance industries, impose new taxes and fees 
on the health industry and impose additional health policy reforms. The PPACA increased manufacturers’ rebate liability under the Medicaid Drug Rebate 
Program by increasing the minimum rebate amount for both branded and generic drugs and revised the definition of “average manufacturer price”, which 
may also increase the amount of Medicaid drug rebates manufacturers are required to pay to states. The legislation also expanded Medicaid drug rebates 
and created an alternative rebate formula for certain new formulations of certain existing products that is intended to increase the rebates due on those 
drugs. The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”), which administers the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, also has proposed to expand 
Medicaid rebates to the utilization that occurs in the territories of the U.S., such as Puerto Rico and the Virgin Islands. Further, beginning in 2011, the 
PPACA imposed a significant annual fee on companies that manufacture or import branded prescription drug products and required manufacturers to 
provide a 50% discount off the negotiated price of prescriptions filled by beneficiaries in the Medicare Part D coverage gap, referred to as the “donut hole.” 
Legislative and regulatory proposals have been introduced at both the state and federal level to expand post-approval requirements and restrict sales and 
promotional activities for pharmaceutical products.

There have been public announcements by members of the U.S. Congress, regarding plans to repeal and replace the PPACA and Medicare. For example, on 
December 22, 2017, President Trump signed into law the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, which, among other things, eliminated the individual mandate 
requiring most Americans (other than those who qualify for a hardship exemption) to carry a minimum level of health coverage, effective January 1, 2019. 
On December 14, 2018, a U.S. District Court Judge in the Northern District of Texas, or the Texas District Court Judge, ruled that the individual mandate is 
a critical and inseverable feature of the PPACA, and therefore, because it was repealed as part of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, the remaining 
provisions of the PPACA are invalid as well. On December 18, 2019, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit upheld the District Court’s ruling with 
respect to the individual mandate but remanded the case to the District Court to consider whether other parts of the law can remain in effect. While the 
Texas District Court Judge has stated that the ruling will have no immediate effect, it is unclear how this decision, subsequent appeals, and other efforts to 
repeal and replace the PPACA will impact the law and our business. We are not sure whether additional legislative changes will be enacted, or whether the 
FDA regulations, guidance or interpretations will be changed, or what the impact of such changes on the marketing approvals of our drug candidates, if any, 
may be. In addition, increased scrutiny by the U.S. Congress of the FDA’s approval process may significantly delay or prevent marketing approval, as well 
as subject us to more stringent product labeling and post-marketing approval testing and other requirements.
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Moreover, payment methodologies may be subject to changes in healthcare legislation and regulatory initiatives. For example, CMS may develop new 
payment and delivery models, such as bundled payment models. In addition, there has been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which 
manufacturers set prices for their marketed products, which has resulted in several U.S. Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted federal and state 
legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to drug pricing, reduce the cost of prescription drugs under government payor 
programs, and review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services has started 
soliciting feedback on some of these measures and, at the same time, is implementing others under its existing authority. For example, in May 2019, CMS 
issued a final rule to allow Medicare Advantage Plans the option of using step therapy for Part B drugs beginning January 1, 2020. This final rule codified 
CMS’s policy change that was effective January 1, 2019. While any proposed measures will require authorization through additional legislation to become 
effective, Congress has indicated that it will continue to seek new legislative and/or administrative measures to control drug costs. We expect that additional 
U.S. federal healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the amounts that the U.S. federal government will pay for 
healthcare products and services, which could result in reduced demand for our drug candidates, if approved for commercialization.

In Europe, the United Kingdom formally withdrew from the European Union on January 31, 2020, and entered into a transition period that ended on 
December 31, 2020. A significant portion of the regulatory framework in the United Kingdom is derived from the regulations of the European Union. We 
cannot predict what consequences the recent withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union will have on the regulatory frameworks of the 
United Kingdom or the European Union, or on our future operations, if any, in these jurisdictions, and the United Kingdom is in the process of negotiating 
trade deals with other countries. Additionally, the United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the European Union may increase the possibility that other countries 
may decide to leave the European Union again.

*Actions that we have taken to restructure our business to align our cost structure with our strategic priorities may not have the anticipated effects.
 
In August 2023, we announced a plan to reduce our workforce by six employees, which represented approximately 24% of our employees as of August 18, 
2023. The decision to reduce our workforce was made in order to focus spending on our clinical program for FXR314, reduce ongoing operating expenses 
not related to clinical expenses, and extend our cash runway. As a result of the reduction in force, we expect to incur approximately $0.4 million of cash 
expenditures in connection with the reduction in force, which relate to severance pay, and are expected to be incurred through the quarter ending March 31, 
2024. We may incur additional expenses not currently contemplated due to events associated with the reduction in force; for example, the reduction in force 
may have a future impact on other areas of our liabilities and obligations, which could result in losses in future periods. Moreover, we may not realize, in 
full or in part, the anticipated benefits and savings from this restructuring due to unforeseen difficulties, delays or unexpected costs. If we are unable to 
realize the expected operational efficiencies and cost savings from the restructuring, our operating results and financial condition would be adversely 
affected. In addition, we may need to undertake additional workforce reductions or restructuring activities in the future.

Risks Related to Our Capital Requirements, Finances and Operations

*Management has performed an analysis and concluded that substantial doubt exists about our ability to continue as a going concern. 

Our financial statements as of September 30, 2023 have been prepared under the assumption that we will continue as a going concern for the next twelve 
months. Management has performed an analysis and concluded that substantial doubt exists about our ability to continue as a going concern. Our ability to 
continue as a going concern is dependent upon our ability to obtain additional equity or debt financing, obtain government grants, reduce expenditures and 
generate significant revenue. Our financial statements as of September 30, 2023 do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this 
uncertainty. The reaction of investors to the inclusion of a going concern statement by management and our auditors, and our potential inability to continue 
as a going concern, in future years could materially adversely affect our share price and our ability to raise new capital or enter into strategic alliances.

Additional funds may not be available when we need them on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. If adequate funds are not available to us on a 
timely basis, we may be required to curtail or cease our operations.
 

There can be no assurance that we will be able to raise sufficient additional capital on acceptable terms or at all. Raising additional funding through debt or 
equity financing is likely to be difficult or unavailable altogether given the early stage of our therapeutic candidates. If such additional financing is not 
available on satisfactory terms, or is not available in sufficient amounts, we may be required to delay, limit or eliminate the development of business 
opportunities and our ability to achieve our business objectives, our competitiveness, and our business, financial condition and results of operations will be 
materially adversely affected. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of additional debt or equity securities, it could result in dilution to our 
existing stockholders, increased fixed payment obligations and the existence of securities with rights that may be senior to those of our common stock. If 
we incur indebtedness, we could become subject to covenants that would restrict our operations and potentially impair our 
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competitiveness, such as limitations on our ability to acquire, sell or license intellectual property rights and other operating restrictions that could adversely 
impact our ability to conduct our business. Any of these events could significantly harm our business, financial condition and prospects. Furthermore, the 
issuance of additional securities, whether equity or debt, by us, or the possibility of such issuance, may cause the market price of our common stock to 
decline further and existing stockholders may not agree with our financing plans or the terms of such financings. In addition, if we seek funds through 
arrangements with collaborative partners, these arrangements may require us to relinquish rights to our technology or potential future product candidates or 
otherwise agree to terms unfavorable to us.

We have a history of operating losses and expect to incur significant additional operating losses.
 

We have generated operating losses each year since we began operations, including $8.3 million and $6.6 million for the six months ended September 30, 
2023 and 2022, respectively. As of September 30, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of $333.0 million. We expect to incur substantial additional 
operating losses over the next several years as our research and development activities increase. 

The amount of future losses and when, if ever, we will achieve profitability are uncertain. Our ability to generate revenue and achieve profitability will 
depend on, among other things:
 
 

• successfully developing human tissues and disease models for drug discovery and development that enable us to identify drug candidates;
 
 

• successfully outsourcing certain portions of our development efforts;
 
 

• entering into collaboration or licensing arrangements with pharmaceutical companies to further develop and conduct clinical trials for any 
drug candidates we identify;

 
 

• obtaining any necessary regulatory approvals for any drug candidates we identify; and
 
 

• raising sufficient funds to finance our activities and long-term business plan.
 
We might not succeed at any of these undertakings. If we are unsuccessful at one or more of these undertakings, our business, prospects, and results of 
operations will be materially adversely affected. We may never generate significant revenue, and even if we do generate significant revenue, we may never 
achieve profitability.

Our quarterly operating results may vary, which could negatively affect the market price of our common stock.
 

Our results of operations in any quarter may vary from quarter to quarter and are influenced by such factors as expenses related to:
 

• evaluating and implementing strategic alternatives, technology licensing opportunities, potential collaborations, and other strategic 
transactions;

• litigation; 

• research and development expenditures, including commencement of preclinical studies and clinical trials; 

• the timing of the hiring of new employees, which may require payments of signing, retention or similar bonuses; and

• changes in costs related to the general global economy.
 
We believe that operating results for any particular quarter are not necessarily a meaningful indication of future results. Nonetheless, fluctuations in our 
quarterly operating results could negatively affect the market price of our common stock.
 
We may identify material weaknesses in the future that may cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations or result in material misstatements of our 
financial statements.
 
Our management team is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial 
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of annual or interim financial statements will not be 
prevented or detected on a timely basis.
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We cannot assure you that we will not have material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting. If we identify 
any material weaknesses or significant deficiencies that may exist, the accuracy and timing of our financial reporting may be adversely affected, we may be 
unable to maintain compliance with securities law requirements regarding timely filing of periodic reports in addition to applicable stock exchange listing 
requirements, and our stock price may decline materially as a result.
 
Future strategic investments could negatively affect our business, financial condition and results of operations if we fail to achieve the desired returns 
on our investment. 
 
Our ability to benefit from future external strategic investments depends on our ability to successfully conduct due diligence, evaluate prospective 
opportunities, and buy the equity of our target investments at acceptable market prices. Our failure in any of these tasks could result in unforeseen losses 
associated with the strategic investments.   
 
We may also discover deficiencies in internal controls, data adequacy and integrity, product quality, regulatory compliance, product liabilities or other 
undisclosed liabilities that we did not uncover prior to our investment, which could result in us becoming subject asset impairments, including potential loss 
of our investment capital. In addition, if we do not achieve the anticipated benefits of an external investment as rapidly as expected, or at all, investors or 
analysts may downgrade our stock. 
 
We also expect to continue to carry out strategic investments that we believe are necessary to expand our business.  There are no assurances that such 
initiatives will yield favorable results for us. Accordingly, if these initiatives are not successful, our business, financial condition and results of operations 
could be adversely affected. If these risks materialize, our stock price could be materially adversely affected. Any difficulties in such investments could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 
Our business could be adversely impacted if we are unable to retain our executive officers and other key personnel.
 

Our future success will depend to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of our key personnel, especially our executive officers. We do not 
currently have long-term employment agreements with our executive officers or our other key personnel, and there is no guarantee that our executive 
officers or key personnel will remain employed with us. Moreover, we have not obtained key man life insurance that would provide us with proceeds in the 
event of the death, disability or incapacity of any of our executive officers or other key personnel. Further, the process of attracting and retaining suitable 
replacements for any executive officers and other key personnel we lose in the future would result in transition costs and would divert the attention of other 
members of our senior management from our existing operations. Additionally, such a loss could be negatively perceived in the capital markets. Finally, our 
Executive Chairman also provides services to Viscient Biosciences, Inc. (“Viscient”). Executives that provide services to us and Viscient do not dedicate all 
of their time to us, as disclosed in our filings, and we may therefore compete with Viscient for the time commitments of our Executive Chairman from time 
to time.

We may be subject to security breaches or other cybersecurity incidents that could compromise our information and expose us to liability.
 
We routinely collect and store sensitive data (such as intellectual property, proprietary business information and personally identifiable information) for 
ourselves, our employees and our suppliers and customers. We make significant efforts to maintain the security and integrity of our computer systems and 
networks and to protect this information. However, like other companies in our industry, our networks and infrastructure may be vulnerable to cyber-attacks 
or intrusions, including by computer hackers, foreign governments, foreign companies or competitors, or may be breached by employee error, malfeasance 
or other disruption. Any such breach could result in unauthorized access to (or disclosure of) sensitive, proprietary or confidential information of ours, our 
employees or our suppliers or customers, and/or loss or damage to our data. Any such unauthorized access, disclosure, or loss of information could cause 
competitive harm, result in legal claims or proceedings, liability under laws that protect the privacy of personal information, and/or cause reputational 
harm.
 
*Compliance with global privacy and data security requirements could result in additional costs and liabilities to us or inhibit our ability to collect and 
process data globally, and the failure to comply with such requirements could subject us to significant fines and penalties, which may have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
 
The regulatory framework for the collection, use, safeguarding, sharing, transfer, and other processing of information worldwide is rapidly evolving and is 
likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future. Globally, virtually every jurisdiction in which we operate has established its own data security and 
privacy frameworks with which we must comply. For example, the collection, use, disclosure, transfer, or other processing of personal data regarding 
individuals in the European Union, including personal health data, is subject to the EU General Data Protection Regulation (the “GDPR”), which took 
effect across all member states of the European 

36



 
Economic Area (the “EEA”) in May 2018. The GDPR is wide-ranging in scope and imposes numerous requirements on companies that process personal 
data, including requirements relating to processing health and other sensitive data, obtaining consent of the individuals to whom the personal data relates, 
providing information to individuals regarding data processing activities, implementing safeguards to protect the security and confidentiality of personal 
data, providing notification of data breaches, and taking certain measures when engaging third-party processors. The GDPR increases our obligations with 
respect to clinical trials conducted in the EEA by expanding the definition of personal data to include coded data and requiring changes to informed consent 
practices and more detailed notices for clinical trial subjects and investigators. In addition, the GDPR imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal data to 
countries outside the European Union, including the United States, and, as a result, increases the scrutiny that clinical trial sites located in the EEA should 
apply to transfers of personal data from such sites to countries that are considered to lack an adequate level of data protection, such as the United States. 
The GDPR also permits data protection authorities to require destruction of improperly gathered or used personal information and/or impose substantial 
fines for violations of the GDPR, which can be up to four percent of global revenues or 20 million Euros, whichever is greater, and it also confers a private 
right of action on data subjects and consumer associations to lodge complaints with supervisory authorities, seek judicial remedies, and obtain 
compensation for damages resulting from violations of the GDPR. In addition, the GDPR provides that European Union member states may make their 
own further laws and regulations limiting the processing of personal data, including genetic, biometric or health data.
 
Further, Brexit has led to, and could continue to lead to legislative and regulatory changes, which may increase our compliance costs. As of January 1, 2021 
and the expiry of transitional arrangements agreed to between the United Kingdom and the European Union, data processing in the United Kingdom is 
governed by a United Kingdom version of the GDPR (combining the GDPR and the Data Protection Act 2018), exposing us to two parallel regimes, each 
of which authorizes similar fines and other potentially divergent enforcement actions for certain violations. On June 28, 2021, the European Commission 
adopted an Adequacy Decision for the United Kingdom, allowing for the relatively free exchange of personal information between the European Union and 
the United Kingdom, however, the European Commission may suspend the Adequacy Decision if it considers that the United Kingdom no longer provides 
for an adequate level of data protection. The UK has announced plans to reform the country’s data protection legal framework in its Data Reform Bill, 
which may introduce significant changes from the GDPR, which may lead to additional compliance costs. Other jurisdictions outside the European Union 
are similarly introducing or enhancing privacy and data security laws, rules and regulations.
 
Similar actions are either in place or under way in the United States. There are a broad variety of data protection laws that are applicable to our activities, 
and a wide range of enforcement agencies at both the state and federal levels that can review companies for privacy and data security concerns based on 
general consumer protection laws. The Federal Trade Commission and state Attorneys General all are aggressive in reviewing privacy and data security 
protections for consumers. New laws also are being considered at both the state and federal levels and several states have passed comprehensive privacy 
laws. For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act — which went into effect on January 1, 2020 — is creating similar risks and obligations as those 
created by the GDPR, though the California Consumer Privacy Act does exempt certain information collected as part of a clinical trial subject to the 
Federal Policy for the Protection of Human Subjects (the Common Rule). As of January 1, 2023, the California Consumer Privacy Act (as amended and 
expanded by the California Privacy Rights Act) is in full effect, with enforcement by California’s dedicated privacy enforcement agency expected to start 
later in 2023. While California was first among the states in adopting comprehensive data privacy legislation similar to the GDPR, many other states are 
following suit. For example, other states have adopted such laws, including the Virginia Consumer Data Protection Act, the Colorado Privacy Act and the 
Connecticut Data Privacy Act, all of which became effective in 2023. Utah’s Consumer Privacy Act will go into effect on December 31, 2023 and the Iowa 
Consumer Data Protection Act will go into effect on January 1, 2025. On May 1, 2023, Indiana became the seventh state to pass similar data privacy 
legislation, the Indiana Data Privacy Law, which will become effective January 1, 2026. The Tennessee Information Protection Act, enacted on May 11, 
2023, will go into effect on July 1, 2024. On May 19, 2023, Montana became the ninth state to enact a comprehensive consumer privacy law, the Montana 
Consumer Data Privacy Act, which goes into effect October 1, 2024.  Many other states are considering similar legislation. Additionally, a broad range of 
legislative measures also have been introduced at the federal level. Accordingly, failure to comply with federal and state laws (both those currently in effect 
and future legislation) regarding privacy and security of personal information could expose us to fines and penalties under such laws. There also is the 
threat of consumer class actions related to these laws and the overall protection of personal data. This is particularly true with respect to data security 
incidents, and sensitive personal information, including health and biometric data. Even if we are not determined to have violated these laws, government 
investigations into these issues typically require the expenditure of significant resources and generate negative publicity, which could harm our reputation 
and business.
 
Given the breadth and depth of changes in data protection obligations, preparing for and complying with these requirements is rigorous and time intensive 
and requires significant resources and a review of our technologies, systems and practices, as well as those of any third-party collaborators, service 
providers, contractors or consultants that process or transfer personal data collected in the European Union. The GDPR, new state privacy laws and other 
changes in laws or regulations associated with the enhanced protection of certain types of sensitive data, such as healthcare data or other personal 
information from our clinical trials, could require us to change our business practices and put in place additional compliance mechanisms, may interrupt or 
delay our development, regulatory and commercialization activities and increase our cost of doing business, and could lead to government enforcement 
actions, private 
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litigation and significant fines and penalties against us and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.
 
We and our partners may be subject to stringent privacy laws, information security laws, regulations, policies and contractual obligations related to 
data privacy and security, and changes in such laws, regulations, policies or how they are interpreted or changes in contractual obligations could 
adversely affect our business.
 
There are numerous U.S. federal and state data privacy and protection laws and regulations that apply to the collection, transmission, processing, storage 
and use of personally-identifying information, which among other things, impose certain requirements relating to the privacy, security and transmission of 
personal information. The legislative and regulatory landscape for privacy and data protection continues to evolve in jurisdictions worldwide, and there has 
been an increasing focus on privacy and data protection issues with the potential to affect our business. Failure to comply with any of these laws and 
regulations could result in enforcement action against us, including fines, imprisonment of company officials and public censure, claims for damages by 
affected individuals, damage to our reputation and loss of goodwill, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, 
results of operations or prospects.
 
If we are unable to properly protect the privacy and security of health-related information or other sensitive or confidential information in our possession, 
we could be found to have breached our contracts. Further, if we fail to comply with applicable privacy laws, including applicable HIPAA privacy and 
security standards, we could face significant administrative, civil and criminal penalties. Enforcement activity can also result in financial liability and 
reputational harm, and responses to such enforcement activity can consume significant internal resources. In addition, state attorneys general are authorized 
to bring civil actions seeking either injunctions or damages in response to violations that threaten the privacy of state residents. 

We may experience conflicts of interest with Viscient Biosciences, Inc. with respect to business opportunities and other matters.
 

Keith Murphy, our Executive Chairman, is the Chief Executive Officer, Chairman and principal stockholder of Viscient, a private company that he founded 
in 2017 that is focused on drug discovery and development utilizing 3D tissue technology and multi-omics (genomics, transcriptomics, metabolomics). 
Jeffrey N. Miner, our former Chief Scientific Officer, is a co-founder, the Chief Scientific Officer and a significant stockholder of Viscient. In addition, 
Adam Stern, Douglas Jay Cohen and David Gobel (through the Methuselah Foundation and the Methuselah Fund), members of our Board, have invested 
funds through a convertible promissory note in Viscient, but do not serve as an employee, officer or director of Viscient. Additional members of our 
Research and Development organization also work at Viscient, and we expect that additional employees or consultants of ours will also be employees of or 
consultants to Viscient. We use certain Viscient-owned facilities and equipment and allow Viscient to use certain of our facilities and equipment. During 
fiscal 2024, we provided services to Viscient, and we expect to continue to provide services to Viscient and enter into additional agreements with Viscient 
in the future.
 
In addition, we license, as well as cross-license, certain intellectual property to and from Viscient and expect to continue to do so in the future. In particular, 
pursuant to an Asset Purchase and Non-Exclusive Patent License Agreement with Viscient, dated November 6, 2019, as amended, we have provided a paid 
up, worldwide, irrevocable, perpetual, non-exclusive license to Viscient under certain of our patents and know-how to (a) make, have made, use, sell offer 
to sell, import and otherwise exploit the inventions and subject matter covered by certain patents regarding certain bioprinter devices and bioprinting 
methods, engineered liver tissues, engineered renal tissues, engineered intestinal tissue and engineered tissue for in vitro research use, (b) to use and 
internally repair the bioprinters, and (c) to make additional bioprinters for internal use only in connection with drug discovery and development research, 
target identification and validation, compound screening, preclinical safety, absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion and toxicology (ADMET) 
studies, and in vitro research to complement clinical development of a therapeutic compound. Although we have entered, and expect to enter, into 
agreements and arrangements that we believe appropriately govern the ownership of intellectual property created by joint employees or consultants of 
Viscient and/or using our or Viscient’s facilities or equipment, it is possible that we may disagree with Viscient as to the ownership of intellectual property 
created by shared employees or consultants, or using shared equipment or facilities.
 
On December 28, 2020, we entered into an intercompany agreement with Viscient and Organovo, Inc., our wholly-owned subsidiary (the “Intercompany 
Agreement”). Pursuant to the Intercompany Agreement, we agreed to provide Viscient certain services related to 3D bioprinting technology, which 
includes, but is not limited to, histology services, cell isolation, and proliferation of cells, and Viscient agreed to provide us certain services related to 3D 
bioprinting technology, including bioprinter training, bioprinting services, and qPCR assays, in each case on payment terms specified in the Intercompany 
Agreement and as may be further determined by the parties. In addition, Viscient and we each agreed to share certain facilities and equipment and, subject 
to further agreement, to each make certain employees available for specified projects to the other party at prices to be determined in good faith by the 
parties. Under the Intercompany Agreement, each party will retain its own prior intellectual property and will obtain new intellectual property rights within 
their respectively defined fields of use. 

38



 

Due to the interrelated nature of Viscient with us, conflicts of interest may arise with respect to transactions involving business dealings between us and 
Viscient, potential acquisitions of businesses or products, the development and ownership of technologies and products, the sale of products, markets and 
other matters in which our best interests and the best interests of our stockholders may conflict with the best interests of the stockholders of Viscient. In 
addition, we and Viscient may disagree regarding the interpretation of certain terms of the arrangements we previously entered into with Viscient or may 
enter into in the future. We cannot guarantee that any conflict of interest will be resolved in our favor, or that, with respect to our transactions with Viscient, 
we will negotiate terms that are as favorable to us as if such transactions were with another third-party. In addition, executives that provide services to us 
and Viscient may not dedicate all of their time to us and we may therefore compete with Viscient for the time commitments of our executive officers from 
time to time.  

Risks Related to Our Common Stock and Liquidity Risks
 

We could fail to maintain the listing of our common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market, which could seriously harm the liquidity of our stock and our 
ability to raise capital or complete a strategic transaction.
 

The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq”) has established continued listing requirements, including a requirement to maintain a minimum closing bid 
price of at least $1 per share. If a company trades for 30 consecutive business days below such minimum closing bid price, it will receive a deficiency 
notice from Nasdaq. Assuming it is in compliance with the other continued listing requirements, Nasdaq would provide such company a period of 180 
calendar days in which to regain compliance by maintaining a closing bid price at least $1 per share for a minimum of ten consecutive business days. There 
can be no assurance that we will continue to maintain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement or other listing requirements necessary for us to 
maintain the listing of our common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market. 
  
A delisting from the Nasdaq Capital Market and commencement of trading on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board would likely result in a reduction in 
some or all of the following, each of which could have a material adverse effect on stockholders:
 

• the liquidity of our common stock;

• the market price of our common stock (and the accompanying valuation of our Company);

• our ability to obtain financing or complete a strategic transaction;

• the number of institutional and other investors that will consider investing in shares of our common stock;

• the number of market markers or broker-dealers for our common stock; and

• the availability of information concerning the trading prices and volume of shares of our common stock.
 
There is no assurance that an active market in our common stock will continue at present levels or increase in the future.
 
Our common stock is currently traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market, but there is no assurance that an active market in our common stock will continue at 
present levels or increase in the future. As a result, an investor may find it difficult to dispose of our common stock on the timeline and at the volumes they 
desire. This factor limits the liquidity of our common stock and may have a material adverse effect on the market price of our common stock and on our 
ability to raise additional capital.

The price of our common stock may continue to be volatile, which could lead to losses by investors and costly securities litigation.
 

The trading price of our common stock is likely to be highly volatile and could fluctuate in response to factors such as:
 

• announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;

• our ability to execute on our new strategic plan;

• reduced government funding for research and development activities;

• actual or anticipated variations in our operating results;

• adoption of new accounting standards affecting our industry;

• additions or departures of key personnel;

• sales of our common stock or other securities in the open market;

• degree of coverage of securities analysts and reports and recommendations issued by securities analysts regarding our business;
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• volume fluctuations in the trading of our common stock; and

• other events or factors, many of which are beyond our control.
 
The stock market is subject to significant price and volume fluctuations. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s 
securities, securities class action litigation has often been initiated against such a company. Litigation initiated against us, whether or not successful, could 
result in substantial costs and diversion of our management’s attention and resources, which could harm our business and financial condition.
 
Investors may experience dilution of their ownership interests because of the future issuance of additional shares of our capital stock.
 

We are authorized to issue 200,000,000 shares of common stock and 25,000,000 shares of preferred stock. As of September 30, 2023, there were an 
aggregate of 11,426,709 shares of our common stock issued and outstanding and available for issuance on a fully diluted basis and no shares of preferred 
stock outstanding. That total for our common stock includes 2,647,830 shares of our common stock that may be issued upon the vesting of restricted stock 
units, the exercise of outstanding stock options, or is available for issuance under our equity incentive plans, and, as of October 31, 2023, 45,000 shares of 
common stock that may be issued through our Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”).
 
In the future, we may issue additional authorized but previously unissued equity securities to raise funds to support our continued operations and to 
implement our business plan. We may also issue additional shares of our capital stock or other securities that are convertible into or exercisable for our 
capital stock in connection with hiring or retaining employees, future acquisitions, or for other business purposes. If we raise additional funds from the 
issuance of equity securities, substantial dilution to our existing stockholders may result. In addition, the future issuance of any such additional shares of 
capital stock may create downward pressure on the trading price of our common stock. There can be no assurance that we will not be required to issue 
additional shares, warrants or other convertible securities in the future in conjunction with any capital raising efforts, including at a price (or exercise 
prices) below the price at which shares of our common stock is currently traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market. Moreover, depending on market conditions, 
we cannot be sure that additional financing will be available when needed or that, if available, financing will be obtained on terms favorable to us or to our 
stockholders.
 
We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.
 

We have paid no dividends on our common stock to date and it is not anticipated that any dividends will be paid to holders of our common stock in the 
foreseeable future. While our future dividend policy will be based on the operating results and capital needs of our business, it is currently anticipated that 
any earnings will be retained to finance our future expansion and for the implementation of our business plan. As an investor, you should take note of the 
fact that a lack of a dividend can further affect the market value of our stock and could significantly affect the value of any investment.
 
Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law may discourage or prevent a change of control, even if an acquisition 
would be beneficial to our stockholders, which could affect our stock price adversely and prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our 
current management.
 

Our Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (“Certificate of Incorporation”), and Amended and Restated Bylaws, as amended (“Bylaws”) contain 
provisions that could delay or prevent a change of control of our company or changes in our board of directors that our stockholders might consider 
favorable. Some of these provisions:
 

• authorize the issuance of preferred stock which can be created and issued by our board of directors without prior stockholder approval, with 
rights senior to those of the common stock;

• provide for a classified board of directors, with each director serving a staggered three-year term;

• provide that each director may be removed by the stockholders only for cause;

• prohibit our stockholders from filling board vacancies, calling special stockholder meetings, or taking action by written consent; and

• require advance written notice of stockholder proposals and director nominations.
 
In addition, we are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which may prohibit certain business combinations 
with stockholders owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock. These and other provisions in our Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws and 
Delaware law could make it more difficult for stockholders or potential acquirers to obtain control of our board of directors or initiate actions that are 
opposed by our then-current board of directors, including delaying or impeding a merger, tender offer, or proxy contest involving our company. Any delay 
or prevention of a change of control transaction or changes in our board of directors could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
 

If we are not able to adequately protect our proprietary rights, our business could be harmed.
 

Our success will depend to a significant extent on our ability to obtain patents and maintain adequate protection for our technologies, intellectual property 
and products and service offerings in the United States and other countries. If we do not protect our intellectual property adequately, competitors may be 
able to use our technologies and gain a competitive advantage.
 
To protect our products and technologies, we, and our collaborators and licensors, must prosecute and maintain existing patents, obtain new patents and 
pursue other intellectual property protection. Our existing patents and any future patents we obtain may not be sufficiently broad to prevent others from 
using our technologies or from developing competing products and technologies. Changes in either the patent laws or interpretations of patent laws in the 
United States and other countries may also effect the value of our licensed or owned intellectual property or create uncertainty. Moreover, the patent 
positions of many biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies are highly uncertain, involve complex legal and factual questions and have in recent years 
been the subject of much litigation. As a result, we cannot guarantee that:
 

• any patent applications filed by us will issue as patents;

• third parties will not challenge our proprietary rights, and if challenged that a court or an administrative board of a patent office will hold that 
our patents are valid and enforceable;

• third parties will not independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies by inventing around our 
claims;

• any patents issued to us will cover our technology and products as ultimately developed;

• we will develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable;

• the patents of others will not have an adverse effect on our business; or

• as issued patents expire, we will not lose some competitive advantage.
 
As previously disclosed, we have recommenced certain historical operations and are now focusing our future efforts on developing highly customized 3D 
human tissues as living, dynamic models for healthy and diseased human biology for drug development. Previously, we focused our efforts on developing 
our in vivo liver tissues to treat end-stage liver disease and a select group of life-threatening, orphan diseases, for which there were limited treatment 
options other than organ transplant. We also explored the development of other potential pipeline in vivo tissue constructs. As we focus our business on 
developing highly customized 3D human tissues, we may sell, discontinue, adjust or abandon certain patents and patent applications relating to our 
historical operations. There can be no assurance that we will be successful at such efforts or sell or otherwise monetize such assets on acceptable terms, if at 
all. There is also no guarantee that our remaining patents will be sufficiently broad to prevent others from using our technologies or from developing 
competing products and technologies.
 
We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.
 

Certain foreign jurisdictions have an absolute requirement of novelty that renders any public disclosure of an invention immediately fatal to patentability in 
such jurisdictions. Therefore, there is a risk that we may not be able to protect some of our intellectual property in the United States or abroad due to 
disclosures, which we may not be aware of, by our collaborators or licensors. Some foreign jurisdictions prohibit certain types of patent claims, such as 
“method-of-treatment/use-type” claims; thus, the scope of protection available to us in such jurisdictions is limited.
 
Moreover, filing, prosecuting and defending patents on all of our potential products and technologies throughout the world would be prohibitively 
expensive. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not sought or obtained patent protection to develop their own products and 
further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories where we have patent protection, but where enforcement is not as strong as that in the United 
States. These products may compete with our future products in jurisdictions where we do not have any issued patents and our patent claims or other 
intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing.
 
Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems 
of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection, particularly 
those relating to biopharmaceuticals, which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or marketing of competing products in 
violation of our proprietary rights generally. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial cost and divert our 
efforts and attention from other aspects of our business.
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Patents covering our products could be found invalid or unenforceable if challenged in court or before administrative bodies in the United States or 
abroad. 
 

The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity or enforceability, and our patents may be challenged in the courts or patent 
offices in the United States and abroad. We may be subject to a third-party preissuance submission of prior art to the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (the 
“USPTO”), or become involved in opposition, derivation, revocation, reexamination, post-grant and inter partes review (“IPR”), or interference 
proceedings or other similar proceedings challenging our patent rights. An adverse determination in any such submission, proceeding or litigation could 
reduce the scope of, or invalidate or render unenforceable, our patent rights, allow third parties to commercialize our technology or products and compete 
directly with us, without payment to us, or result in our inability to manufacture or commercialize products without infringing third-party patent rights. 
Moreover, we may have to participate in interference proceedings declared by the USPTO to determine priority of invention or in post-grant challenge 
proceedings, such as oppositions in a foreign patent office, that challenge our priority of invention or other features of patentability with respect to our 
patents and patent applications. Such challenges may result in loss of patent rights, in loss of exclusivity or in patent claims being narrowed, invalidated or 
held unenforceable, which could limit our ability to stop others from using or commercializing similar or identical technology and products, or limit the 
duration of the patent protection of our technology or products. Such proceedings also may result in substantial cost and require significant time from our 
scientists and management, even if the eventual outcome is favorable to us. 

For example, our U.S. Patent Nos. 9,855,369 and 9,149,952, which relate to our bioprinter technology, were the subject of IPR proceedings filed by Cellink 
AB and its subsidiaries (collectively, “BICO Group AB”), one of our competitors. Likewise, U.S. Patent Nos. 9,149,952, 9,855,369, 8,931,880, 9,227,339, 
9,315,043 and 10,967,560 (all assigned to Organovo, Inc.) and U.S. Patent Nos. 7,051,654, 8,241,905, 8,852,932 and 9,752,116 (assigned to Clemson 
University and the University of Missouri, respectively) were implicated in a declaratory judgment complaint filed against Organovo, Inc., our wholly 
owned subsidiary, by BICO Group AB and certain of its subsidiaries in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware. All of these matters 
were eventually settled in February 2022.

Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation or proceedings more effectively than we can because of their substantially 
greater financial resources. Patent litigation and other proceedings may also absorb significant management time. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation 
and continuation of patent litigation or other proceedings could impair our ability to compete in the marketplace. The occurrence of any of the foregoing 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce 
our inventions, patents or other intellectual property or the patents of our licensors, which could be expensive and time consuming.

In addition, if we initiate legal proceedings against a third party to enforce a patent covering our products, the defendant could counterclaim that such patent 
is invalid or unenforceable. In patent litigation in the United States, defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity or unenforceability are commonplace. 
Grounds for a validity challenge could be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory requirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness, or non-
enablement. Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that someone connected with prosecution of the patent withheld relevant 
information from the USPTO or made a misleading statement during prosecution. Third parties may also raise claims challenging the validity or 
enforceability of our patents before administrative bodies in the United States or abroad, even outside the context of litigation, including through re-
examination, post-grant review, IPR, interference proceedings, derivation proceedings and equivalent proceedings in foreign jurisdictions (e.g., opposition 
proceedings). Such proceedings could result in the revocation of, cancellation of or amendment to our patents in such a way that they no longer cover our 
products. The outcome following legal assertions of invalidity and unenforceability is unpredictable. With respect to the validity question, for example, we 
cannot be certain that there is no invalidating prior art, of which we and the patent examiner were unaware during prosecution. If a third party were to 
prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity or unenforceability, we would lose at least part, and perhaps all, of the patent protection on our products. Such a 
loss of patent protection would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
 
We may be involved in lawsuits or other proceedings to protect or enforce our patents or the patents of our licensors, which could be expensive, time-
consuming and unsuccessful.
 

Competitors may infringe our patents or the patents of our collaborators or licensors or our licensors may breach or otherwise prematurely terminate the 
provisions of our license agreements with them. To counter infringement or unauthorized use, we may be required to file infringement claims or lawsuits, 
which can be expensive and time-consuming. In addition, in an infringement proceeding, a court may decide that a patent of ours or our collaborators or 
licensors is not valid or is unenforceable or may refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that our patents do not 
cover the technology in question. An adverse result in any litigation or defense proceedings could put one or more of our patents at risk of being 
invalidated, held unenforceable, or interpreted narrowly and could put our other patent applications at risk of not issuing. Additionally, our licensors may 
continue to retain certain rights to use technologies licensed by us for research purposes. Patent disputes can take years to resolve, can be very costly and 
can result in loss of rights, injunctions or substantial penalties. Moreover, patent disputes and related proceedings can distract management’s attention and 
interfere with running our business.
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Furthermore, because of the potential for substantial discovery in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our 
confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. In addition, there could be public announcements of the results 
of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments which could harm our business.
 
As more companies file patents relating to bioprinters and bioprinted tissues, it is possible that patent claims relating to bioprinters or bioprinted human 
tissue may be asserted against us. In addition, the drug candidates we pursue may also be pursued by other companies, and it is possible that patent claims 
relating to such drug candidates may also be asserted against us. Any patent claims asserted against us could harm our business. Moreover, we may face 
claims from non-practicing entities, which have no relevant product revenue and against whom our own patent portfolio may have no deterrent effect. Any 
such claims, with or without merit, could be time-consuming to defend, result in costly litigation and diversion of resources, cause product shipment or 
delays or require us to enter into royalty or license agreements. These licenses may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all. Even if we are successful 
in defending such claims, infringement and other intellectual property litigation can be expensive and time-consuming to litigate and divert management’s 
attention from our core business. Any of these events could harm our business significantly.
 
Our current and future research, development and commercialization activities also must satisfy the obligations under our license agreements. Any disputes 
arising under our license agreements could be costly and distract our management from the conduct of our business. Moreover, premature termination of a 
license agreement could have an adverse impact on our business.
 
In addition to infringement claims against us, if third parties have prepared and filed patent applications in the United States that also claim technology to 
which we have rights, we may have to participate in interference proceedings in the United States Patent and Trademark Office (“PTO”) to determine the 
priority of invention and opposition proceedings outside of the United States. An unfavorable outcome could require us to cease using the related 
technology or to attempt to license rights to it from the prevailing party.
 
Third parties may also attempt to initiate reexamination, post grant review or inter partes review of our patents or those of our collaborators or licensors in 
the PTO. We may also become involved in similar opposition proceedings in the European Patent Office or similar offices in other jurisdictions regarding 
our intellectual property rights with respect to our products and technology.
 
*Changes in U.S. patent law or the patent law of other countries or jurisdictions could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our 
ability to protect our products.

As is the case with other biopharmaceutical companies, our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, particularly patents. Obtaining and 
enforcing patents in the biopharmaceutical industry involves both technological and legal complexity and is costly, time-consuming and inherently 
uncertain. For example, on September 16, 2011, the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or the Leahy-Smith Act, was signed into law. The Leahy-Smith Act 
included a number of significant changes to U.S. patent law, including provisions that affect the way patent applications will be prosecuted and that may 
also affect patent litigation. In particular, under the Leahy-Smith Act, the United States transitioned in March 2013 to a “first to file” system in which the 
first inventor to file a patent application is typically entitled to the patent. Third parties are allowed to submit prior art before the issuance of a patent by the 
USPTO, and may become involved in post-grant proceedings, including opposition, derivation, reexamination, inter partes review or interference 
proceedings challenging our patent rights or the patent rights of others. An adverse determination in any such submission, proceeding or litigation could 
reduce the scope or enforceability of, or invalidate, our patent rights, which could adversely affect our competitive position.

In addition, the U.S. Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain 
circumstances or weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations. In addition to increasing uncertainty with regard to our ability to obtain patents 
in the future, this combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the value of patents, once obtained. Depending on decisions by the U.S. 
Congress, the federal courts and the USPTO, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable ways that would weaken our ability 
to obtain new patents or to enforce patents that we might obtain in the future.

Similarly, changes in patent law and regulations in other countries or jurisdictions or changes in the governmental bodies that enforce them or changes in 
how the relevant governmental authority enforces patent laws or regulations may weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce patents that we 
have licensed or that we may obtain in the future. For example, the complexity and uncertainty of European patent laws have also increased in recent years. 
In Europe, in June 2023, a new unitary patent system was introduced, which will significantly impact European patents, including those granted before the 
introduction of the system. Under the unitary patent system, after a European patent is granted, the patent proprietor can request unitary effect, thereby 
getting a European patent with unitary Effect, or a Unitary Patent. Each Unitary Patent is subject to the jurisdiction of the Unitary Patent Court, or the UPC. 
As the UPC is a new court system, there is no precedent for the court, increasing the uncertainty of any litigation. Patents granted before the 
implementation of the UPC will have the option of opting out of the jurisdiction of the UPC and remaining as national patents in the UPC countries. Patents 
that remain under the jurisdiction of the UPC may be potentially vulnerable to a single UPC-based revocation 
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challenge that, if successful, could invalidate the patent in all countries who are signatories to the UPC. We cannot predict with certainty the long-term 
effects of the new unitary patent system.
 
We depend on license agreements with University of Missouri, Clemson University and the Salk Institute for Biological Studies  for rights to use certain 
patents, pending applications, and know how. Failure to comply with or maintain obligations under these agreements and any related or other 
termination of these agreements could materially harm our business and prevent us from developing or commercializing new product candidates.
 

We are party to license agreements with University of Missouri, Clemson University and the Salk Institute for Biological Studies under which we were 
granted exclusive rights to patents and patent applications that are important to our business and to our ability to develop and commercialize our 3D tissue 
products fabricated using our NovoGen Bioprinters and our FXR314 agonist in gastrointestinal disease. Our rights to use these patents and patent 
applications and employ the inventions claimed in these licensed patents are subject to the continuation of and our compliance with the terms of our license 
agreements. If we were to breach the terms of these license agreements and the agreements were terminated as a result, our ability to continue to develop 
and commercialize our NovoGen Bioprinters, 3D tissue products and the FXR314 agonist and to operate our business could be adversely impacted.

We may be unable to adequately prevent disclosure of trade secrets and other proprietary information.

In order to protect our proprietary and licensed technology and processes, we rely in part on confidentiality agreements with our corporate partners, 
employees, consultants, manufacturers, outside scientific collaborators and sponsored researchers and other advisors. These agreements may not effectively 
prevent disclosure of our confidential information and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of confidential 
information. In addition, others may independently discover our trade secrets and proprietary information. Failure to obtain or maintain trade secret 
protection could adversely affect our competitive business position.

We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed confidential information of 
third parties.

We employ or engage individuals who were previously employed at other biopharmaceutical companies. Although we have no knowledge of any such 
claims against us, we may be subject to claims that we or our employees, consultants or independent contractors have inadvertently or otherwise used or 
disclosed confidential information of our employees’ former employers or other third parties. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. 
There is no guarantee of success in defending these claims, and even if we are successful, litigation could result in substantial cost and be a distraction to 
our management and other employees. To date, none of our employees have been subject to such claims.
 
General Risk Factors

Compliance with the reporting requirements of federal securities laws can be expensive.

We are a public reporting company in the United States, and accordingly, subject to the information and reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and 
other federal securities laws, including the compliance obligations of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Sarbanes-Oxley Act”). The costs of complying 
with the reporting requirements of the federal securities laws, including preparing and filing annual and quarterly reports and other information with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and furnishing audited reports to stockholders, can be substantial.

If we fail to comply with the rules of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act related to accounting controls and procedures, or, if we discover material 
weaknesses and deficiencies in our internal control and accounting procedures, we may be subject to sanctions by regulatory authorities and our stock 
price could decline.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“Section 404”) requires that we evaluate and determine the effectiveness of our internal control over financial 
reporting. We believe our system and process evaluation and testing comply with the management certification requirements of Section 404. We cannot be 
certain, however, that we will be able to satisfy the requirements in Section 404 in all future periods. If we are not able to continue to meet the requirements 
of Section 404 in a timely manner or with adequate compliance, we may be subject to sanctions or investigation by regulatory authorities, such as the SEC 
or Nasdaq. Any such action could adversely affect our financial results or investors’ confidence in us and could cause our stock price to fall. Moreover, if 
we are not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner, or if we identify deficiencies in our internal controls that are deemed to 
be material weaknesses, we may be required to incur significant additional financial and management resources to achieve compliance.
 
 
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS 

None.
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ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES 

None. 
 
 
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE 

Not applicable. 
 
 
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION 
 

None.

45



 
ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

The following exhibit index shows those exhibits filed with this report and those incorporated herein by reference: 
 

Exhibit
No.

 
Description

     

    3.1   Certificate of Incorporation of Organovo Holdings, Inc. (Delaware) (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on February 3, 2012).

     

    3.2   Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Organovo Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on July 27, 2018).

     

    3.3   Certificate of Second Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of Organovo Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to 
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the SEC on August 17, 2020).

     

    3.4   Bylaws of Organovo Holdings, Inc. (Delaware) (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, 
as filed with the SEC on February 3, 2012).

     

    3.5   Amendment to Bylaws of Organovo Holdings, Inc., dated October 10, 2019 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on October 11, 2019).

     

    3.6   Amendment to Bylaws of Organovo Holdings, Inc., dated September 29, 2021 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on October 1, 2021).  

     

   10.1   Separation Agreement and General Release, effective as of September 15, 2023, between Organovo Holdings, Inc. and Tom Jurgensen 
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on September 12, 2023). 

     

   10.2   Separation Agreement and General Release, effective as of September 27, 2023, between Organovo Holdings, Inc. and Jeffrey Miner 
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on September 22, 2023). 

     

  31.1   Certification of Keith Murphy, Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended.*
     

  31.2   Certification of Thomas Hess, Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended.*
   

  32.1   Certification of Keith Murphy, Executive Chairman, and Thomas Hess, Principal Financial Officer, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, as amended.**

     

101.INS   Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded 
within the Inline XBRL document).*

101.SCH   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema.*
101.CAL   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.*
101.DEF   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.*
101.LAB   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.*
101.PRE   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.*
104   Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).*
 

* Filed herewith. 
** Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, 
thereunto duly authorized. 
 
    ORGANOVO HOLDINGS, INC.
   
Date: November 9, 2023   By:  /s/ Keith Murphy
    Name:  Keith Murphy
    Title:

 

Executive Chairman
(Principal Executive Officer)
 

    
   

Date: November 9, 2023   By:  /s/ Thomas Hess 
    Name:  Thomas Hess
    Title:

 

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Keith Murphy, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Organovo Holdings, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the consolidated financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange 
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the 
registrant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, 
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially 
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting 

 
Dated: November 9, 2023   /s/ Keith Murphy
    Keith Murphy

 
  Executive Chairman

(Principal Executive Officer)
 



Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Thomas Hess, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Organovo Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the consolidated financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange 
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the 
registrant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, 
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially 
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting 

 
Dated: November 9, 2023   /s/ Thomas Hess
    Thomas Hess

 
  Chief Financial Officer 

(Principal Financial Officer)
 



Exhibit 32.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Organovo Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended September 30, 2023, as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Keith Murphy, Executive Chairman and I, Thomas Hess, Chief Financial Officer of 
the Company hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my 
knowledge: 

• The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and 

• The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company. 

Date: November 9, 2023
 

/s/ Keith Murphy
Keith Murphy
Executive Chairman
(Principal Executive Officer)

 
/s/ Thomas Hess
Thomas Hess
Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer)

 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Organovo Holdings, Inc. and will be retained by Organovo 

Holdings, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. 

This certification accompanies the Form 10-Q to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and is not to be 
incorporated by reference into any filing of Organovo Holdings, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing. 




